
 

Corporate & Democratic Services 

www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings 

 

Cabinet Agenda 
 

Monday, 7 December 2020 at 6.00 pm 

This meeting will be held digitally.  A viewing link will be posted on our website nearer the time. 
 
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 

  Page No. 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.   Minutes of Last Meeting 
 

1 - 8 

3.   Declaration of Interests 
 

 

4.   Changes to Council Constitution 9 - 102 

 (Christine Barkshire-Jones, Chief Legal Officer) 
(Council decision) 
 

 

5.   12/13 York Buildings 103 - 106 

 (Peter Grace, Chief Finance Officer) 
(Cabinet decision) 
 

 

6.   Notification of Additional Urgent Items 
 

 

7.   Exclusion of the Public  

 To resolve that the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the items of business listed below because it is 
likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of “exempt” information as defined in the 
paragraphs of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
referred to in the relevant report 
 

 

8.   Commercial Property Lease 107 - 110 

 (Peter Grace, Chief Finance Officer) 
(Cabinet decision) 
 

 

9.   Urgent Items (if any)  
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

2 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 1 

 
 

Present: Councillors Forward (Chair), Fitzgerald (Vice-Chair), Barnett, 
Batsford, Chowney, Evans, O’Callaghan and Rogers. 
 
 

 
282. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
None received 
 
283. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
None received. 
 
 
284. MINUTES OF LAST MEETING  
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 5th October 2020 
be approved as a true record. 
 
 
285. FINAL ACCOUNTS 2019/2020  
 
The Chief Finance Officer presented a report on the outturn of the last financial year, 
ending in March 2020.   
 
The financial landscape has changed dramatically from last year and continues to 
change as we move through this year.  It is important to understand last year’s closing 
position given the financial impacts occurring this year as a result of COVID-19.  The 
report provides a starting point to understand our reserves position in particular and to 
help identify ongoing savings that will need to be made in current and future years.  
Any underspends in the year will be helpful but it is the ongoing savings that will be 
achieved which helps balance the budget for future years. 
 
The audit of the final accounts, being carried out by external auditors, Grant Thornton, 
has been delayed this year.  The final accounts themselves are meant to be presented 
to the Audit Committee on the revised date of November 12th.  Unfortunately, Grant 
Thornton will not be in a position to give a view on the accounts by this date, mainly as 
a direct result of COVID-19. The Council’s accounts remain in draft format and could 
be subject to change.  
 
Currently, it looks like it was a good year, as the deficit of £1.598m was reduced from 
the £1.798m that was predicted in February 2020 – a reduction of £200,000. The big 
variations are identified in the appendices; of particular note are those in respect of 
street cleaning, waste and grounds maintenance.  These areas need to be looked at 
to see if they can provide savings in the future.  Whilst the report identifies numerous 
variations there is a lot more work to be carried out in order to set budgets for future 
years. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



CABINET 
 

2 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 2 
 

There remain uncertainties around the future of non-domestic rate income and 
whether the appeals provision remains sufficient given the significant payments being 
made.  Councillor Peter Chowney highlighted the level of savings being achieved and 
the Priority Income and Expenditure Review (PIER) savings in particular – as detailed 
in the appendices.    
 
Councillor Chowney proposed approval of the recommendations, seconded by 
Councillor Rogers.  
 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) that: 
 
1. Cabinet review the revenue and capital outturn positions for 2019/20.  
 
2. That the 2019-20 outturn position, along with the revised estimates for 
2020/21 be taken into account when preparing the 2021/22 budget.  
 
3. Cabinet review the achievement of Priority Income and Efficiency Review 
(PIER) savings for 2019/20. 
 

Reasons: 
 
Compliance with statutory requirements and good practice. The Council is 
accountable for the use of public money and continuously seeks to improve Value for 
Money.  
 
The outturn position informs the budget setting process. Where there are under or 
overspends the reasons behind these are investigated with a view to reallocating 
resources to meet priorities.  
 
The 2016/17 Audit Completion Report from the council’s external auditors (BDO at the 
time) recommended that management report on the achievement of PIER savings 
following their implementation. 
 
 
286. COVID-19 LOCKDOWN UPDATE  
 
As everyone is aware, we are now heading towards another lockdown on Thursday.  
This is another worrying time which increases people’s fear.  The Leader reassured all 
the residents and businesses that Hastings Borough Council will do all it can to work 
with partners to support everyone through this next period of lockdown.   
 
The Managing Director updated on what is happening and what the council is planning 
for going into the lockdown on Thursday.  
 
Following announcements on Saturday night, the Managing Director attended a 
briefing with Secretary of State for Local Government on Sunday evening.  
 

Page 2



CABINET 
 

2 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 3 
 

At the briefing, the Secretary of State explained that the details of what we need to 
know about managing this lockdown would be made available over the next few days. 
 
So whilst we are preparing for Thursday, we are waiting to hear a number of things 
including: 
 

 Clarity about whether some outdoor sports facilities and activities are allowed 
or not  
 

 Confirmation that waste and recycling sites will stay open – we expect this to be 
the case this time 
 

 Any further support and expectations the government has around rough 
sleeping and winter conditions and any associated funding 
 

 Expectations about what help will be offered to the Clinically Extremely 
Vulnerable who will we understand be written to and advised to stay home as 
much as they can and to work from home.  They will be told by the Health 
Secretary what support is in place – we are keen to understand what this 
support is too, as we know that the national scheme will not be in place this 
time. Although the main responsibility for supporting this cohort of people in the 
last lockdown rested with upper tier councils, we provided significant support 
through our community hub and can reasonably expect to do so again. 
 

 We are also waiting to hear what level of Business support will be made 
available, for businesses forced to close from Thursday, and what caveats or 
conditions they are required to meet. We are assuming it will be the same as 
that which has been allocated to those in tier 3 areas. We’re also are not yet 
aware of the amount or rules for the discretionary funding which we understand 
we will be allocated to support local businesses with.   
 

 The Secretary of State also said a statement will be made this week regarding 
the national expansion of the enforcement and local contract tracing systems 
currently operating in tier 2 and 3 areas.  
 

Examples of what we have done immediately include: 

 Each senior manager is reviewing their second wave plans, and in the light of 
the specifics we understand and are preparing their response 
recommendations for what needs to be put in place by Thursday. For some 
areas this is likely to take a few days as the information they need is not yet 
available.  
 

 We have re-instigated A and B teams into operation at the Cemetery and 
Crematorium – to ensure we have teams that do not meet to reduce the risk of 
infection 
 

Page 3



CABINET 
 

2 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 4 
 

 Began to review our risk assessment for staff who have been coming into work 
in Muriel Matters House – the clear expectation is that all those that can work 
from home do so, and only essential tasks, i.e. that cannot be done elsewhere 
are undertaken in the workplace.  
 

 And, we have made the announcement about the arrangements for next 
Sunday’s Act of Remembrance. This will unfortunately now be reduced to a 
maximum of 6 participants representing the town and laying wreaths on behalf 
of the people and organisations of our town.  

 
The immediate priorities for the council over the next few days are: 

 Firstly, to get accurate and detailed information to staff, councillors, residents 
and businesses as soon as it is available. Our website and resident’s 
newsletter will again be invaluable for this purpose.  
 

 Secondly, to manage our staff’s wellbeing and mental health. Now that the virus 
is circulating in our community, the impact on staffing levels is likely to be much 
more dramatic than last time. Even when colleagues have recovered from the 
worst effects of the virus, experience is now showing us that they are not fully 
back to pre-virus health for some considerable weeks.  
 

 Thirdly, the focus will be on ensuring we can meet the needs and requirements 
of the most vulnerable in our town – this may however mean we need to divert 
staff resources from areas and activities that could otherwise have continued.  
 

 Fourthly, to ensure any and all financial allocations we are given to distribute to 
businesses is done so as effectively and quickly as possible.  
 

 Fifthly, to manage number of concurrent threats our town is facing in addition to 
the pandemic – the impacts of EU-exit and of winter weather to name but a few 
of the most serious.  

   
 
The Leader thanked all the officers who work at the council as they have been going 
above and beyond for a very long time.  They are being asked to step up again to be 
there for the residents of the town and there is every confidence that they will do that 
again.  We have to remember to be kind to each other because this is very stressful 
for everybody concerned and it is hoped residents are going to understand the 
priorities that have been outlined and there may be some changes to some of the 
services.  We have got through this so far is by coming together as a community, 
looking out for each other, cooperating and showing understanding and it is certain we 
are going to continue to do that.  All councillors were also thanked, it is important that 
they continue to look after themselves so that they can continue to look after the 
residents of the town.  The Leader also encouraged residents to get in touch with their 
ward councillors if any concerns or issues need to be raised.   
 
 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at 6:30pm) 

Page 4



CABINET 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 1 

 
 
 
287. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
The Managing Director declared no interests. 

 
288. ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS GRANT SCHEME  
 
The Assistant Director Financial Services and Revenues (Chief Finance Officer), 
submitted a report to agree a policy for the use and distribution of the Additional 
Restrictions Grant (ARG) funding (£1,853,220) received from government. 
 
This discretionary grant scheme has been developed by the Council in response to an 
announcement made by the Secretary of State for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy made on 31st October 2020 which sets out the basic circumstances whereby 
an additional restriction grant payment may be made by the Council to a business 
which has to close or are severely affected due to localised or widespread national 
restrictions being put in place to manage coronavirus and save lives. 
 
Whilst the awarding of grants will largely be at the Council’s discretion, the 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has set down criteria 
which must be met by each business making an application. 
 
Localised restrictions are legally binding restrictions imposed on specific Local 
Authority areas or multiple Local Authority areas, where the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care requires the closure of businesses in a local area under 
regulations made using powers in Part 2A of the Public Health (Control of Disease) 
Act 1984 in response to the threat posed by coronavirus and commonly as part of a 
wider set of measures.  
 
National restrictions are nationally binding widespread restrictions imposed by 
Parliament under legislation. The current national restrictions are made under the 
Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) (No. 4) Regulations 2020. 
 
Grants under this scheme will be available for the 2020/21 and 2021/22 financial years 
only. 
 
The government advise that: 
 
(a) No grant can be paid for any period where the localised or widespread national 
restrictions were in place prior to 14th October 2020. 
 
(b) Where any area enters either a localised restriction (LCAL3) or where a national 
restriction applies, additional assistance may be given to businesses under the 
Council’s Local Restrictions Support Grants (Closed) Scheme (as amended). 
 
Under the emergency powers set out in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution the 
Managing Director made the decision in consultation with the following Councillors: 
Cllr Forward, Cllr Fitzgerald, Cllr Batsford, Cllr Chowney, Cllr Rogers and Cllr Lee. 

Public Document Pack

Page 5



CABINET 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2020 
 

CAB. 2 
 

 
RESOLVED- 

1. The Council’s Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the 

Deputy Leader, and the lead member for Financial Management and Estates approve 

the Hastings Additional Restrictions Grant Policy on behalf of the Council under 

Emergency Powers. 

2. The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to make technical amendments and 

adjustments to the scheme in consultation with the lead member for Financial 

Management and Estates to ensure available funding is distributed, and that it meets 

the criteria set by the Council and remains in line with Central Government guidance. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations: 

1. The Council needs to agree an Additional Restriction Grant scheme as a matter of 

urgency to support businesses within the Borough. 

2. Developing a scheme which has limited levels of funding that can not be exceeded, 

requires a degree of delegated authority to make technical amendments and 

adjustments to the scheme if grants are to be awarded quickly and to those which 

meet the eligibility criteria. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



 

Managing Director Decision 

Record 
Part 4 of the Council’s Constitutional Emergency 

Powers 

 

Date: 23rd November 2020 

Item: Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) Scheme Policy 

Report by: Peter Grace, Assistant Director, Financial Services and Revenues (Chief Finance 

Officer) 

Decision type: Cabinet 

Recommendations: 

1. The Council’s Managing Director in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Deputy 

Leader, and the lead member for Financial Management and Estates approve the Hastings 

Additional Restrictions Grant Policy on behalf of the Council under Emergency Powers. 

2. The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to make technical amendments and adjustments to the 

scheme in consultation with the lead member for Financial Management and Estates to ensure 

available funding is distributed, and that it meets the criteria set by the Council and remains in line 

with Central Government guidance. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations: 

1. The Council needs to agree an Additional Restriction Grant scheme as a matter of urgency to 

support businesses within the Borough. 

2. Developing a scheme which has limited levels of funding that can not be exceeded, requires a 

degree of delegated authority to make technical amendments and adjustments to the scheme if 

grants are to be awarded quickly and to those which meet the eligibility criteria. 

 

Decision made in consultation with: 

Page 1

Minute Annex 

Page 7



 

Cabinet For Against Abstain 

Councillor Forward X   

Councillor Fitzgerald X   

Councillor Chowney X   

Councillor Barnett    

Councillor Batsford X   

Councillor Evans    

Councillor O’Callaghan    

Councillor Rogers X   

Opposition    

Councillor Lee X   

Councillor Patmore    

 

The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee gave approval for this decision to be made in 

accordance with rule 26.21 (Special Urgency) of the Council’s Constitution. 

Signed 

 

Jane Hartnell 

Managing Director 

Hastings Borough Council 

Page 2Page 8



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 

Report To: Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting: 7th December 2020 

Report Title: Constitutional Amendments and Amendments to the Participants 
Guidance to ‘Virtual’ Meetings 

Report By: Chris Barkshire-Jones, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer 

Key Decision: Y 
 

Classification: Council decision  

 
 

Purpose of Report 

The council has now had its first full council meeting. Prior to that a Participants’ Guidance to 
Virtual Meetings had been written. It was decided at a previous WAG meeting that before we 
publish the Guidance document we would have a de-brief meeting to consider the full council 
meeting. We anticipated that changes to the council’s constitution during Covid would be 
necessary. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

1. Cabinet recommend to full council that the constitutional amendments are approved. 
2. Cabinet recommend to full council that the ‘Participants Guidance to Virtual Meetings’ 

is included in the council’s constitution as Appendix 3 at Part 4 and is published on the 
Council’s website. 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1. The Council must make provision for the procedures of the council’s constitution to work 
for ‘Virtual’ meetings during the current Covid 19 pandemic 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Introduction 

1. It is normal procedure for a Council’s Monitoring Officer to update the council’s constitution 
periodically to ensure that it provides the council with the right tools to deliver council 
meetings that have procedures that work for all involved as well as keeping the constitution 
legislatively up to-date. 

2. During the Covid 19 pandemic it has been necessary to adapt our procedures to produce 
‘virtual’ meetings to comply with government guidance and regulations. 

3. We started with regulatory meetings such as Environment and Safety, Licensing and 
Planning and now have run the full gambit by producing cabinet and full council meetings. 

4. In order to do so officers from Legal, IT and Democratic Services have worked on procedures 
and Guidance to assist participants and have highlighted the need to have some of the 
constitutional rules tweaked to provide a better framework in order to run the meetings both 
for the members of the public and officers and councillors. 

5. The constitutional amendments and amendments to the participants guidance to ‘Virtual’ 
meetings have both been discussed at a meeting of the Working Arrangement Group (WAG).  
WAG agreed all proposed amendments to Part 4 of the council’s constitution.  WAG also 
requested that an amendment be made to Part 5 of the council’s constitution to require a 
councillor to disconnect from a virtual meeting where they have a prejudicial interest where 
they would otherwise leave the room.  It was agreed that councillors need to leave their 
cameras on at all times during virtual meetings. IT will be trialling this at the next full council 
meeting in December and will report back if there are any technical difficulties.   

Participants Guidance to ‘Virtual’ Meetings 

6. This document has developed over a period of time as we have rolled our virtual meetings. 

7. Officers from Legal Services, Democratic Services and IT have contributed to it as have 
councillors. We had decided that a de-brief meeting after full council held on 21st October 
2020 would be necessary to discuss any last amendments to the guidance. 

8. We noticed that councillors need to be aware that the cameras give a ‘close up’ view of the 
councillor and their surrounding area. So councillors need to keep the area free of their family 
and pets. They need to have their corporate background on Teams and wear their 
headphones for optimum sound quality.  It is likely that some training will need to be given to 
councillors. It is also suggested that councillors view some of the footage to see what the 
public view of themselves is. 

9. WAG requested a more formalised version of the Participants Guidance to ‘Virtual’ Meetings 
be included as Appendix 3 of Part 4 of the constitution (Appendix 3).  The guidance attached 
to this report as Appendix 2 is to be put on the council’s website.   

Constitutional Amendments 

10. These are attached for consideration and discussion at Appendix 1. The proposed changes 
can be found at Paragraphs 9, 11.1, 18.3, 18.4, 22.1, 22.2, 22.3, 22.4, 23.1, 26.3, 28.8, 
29.14 and Appendix 3.  Mainly they refer to the procedures for petitions and public question 
time. How we will now operate and what the data protection issues are in publishing name 

Page 10



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

and addresses of members of the public. The Data Protection Officer has amended the 
privacy notice for Democratic Services to say that we will publish information in this way. We 
will also update the council’s website to assist members of the public and ask those that ask 
questions their permission to publish their name. Also petitioners need to be told on the 
council’s website that their name will be published. 

11. There are also interpretations of the various sections that apply to the Mayor being able to 
control the meeting virtually together with the new three hour time limit and the pre-published 
adjourned date if we do not get through all of the agenda at the first sitting.  

12. The paragraphs on general attendance and voting rights have been altered to accommodate 
virtual meetings. 

Timetable of Next Steps 

13. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Full Council Decisions to be 
made 

16th December 
2020 

Chief Legal Officer 

    

 

Wards Affected 

(All Wards); 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 46.9 
 
Have you used relevant project tools?: Y/N 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness Y/N 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  Y/N 
Risk Management     Y/N 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   Y/N 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y/N 
Human Rights Act     Y/N 
Organisational Consequences   Y/N 
Local People’s Views    Y/N 
Anti-Poverty      Y/N 
Legal                                                                   Y/N 
 
 

Additional Information 

Page 11



Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Part 4 and Part 5 of the constitution with tracked changes 
Appendix 2 - Participants Guidance – Virtual Meetings for council’s website 
Appendix 3 - Participants Guidance – Virtual Meetings for constitution  
 
 
 

Officer to Contact 

Officer Chris Barkshire-Jones 
Email cbarkshire-jones@hastings.gov.uk 
Tel 01424 451731 
 

Page 12



1 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Constitution 
 
 
 

Part 4 
Rules of Procedure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 13



1 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

The Constitution, Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
Contents 

 Annual Meeting of the Council ................................................................................... 5 
Timing and business .......................................................................................................... 5 
 Ordinary Meetings ...................................................................................................... 5 
 Extraordinary and Special Meetings ........................................................................... 6 
Calling extraordinary meetings .......................................................................................... 6 
Special Meetings ............................................................................................................... 6 
 Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub- Committees .............. 6 
 Time and Place of Meetings ....................................................................................... 7 
 Notice of and Summons to Meetings .......................................................................... 7 
 Chair of Meeting ......................................................................................................... 7 
 Quorum ...................................................................................................................... 8 
 Duration of Meeting .................................................................................................... 8 

 Petitions Scheme ........................................................................................................ 8 
Ordinary petitions .............................................................................................................. 8 
Consultation petitions ........................................................................................................ 9 
Governance Petitions ........................................................................................................ 9 
Petitions for Debate ........................................................................................................... 9 
Petitions to call an officer to account ............................................................................... 10 
E-petitions ........................................................................................................................ 10 
How will the Council respond to petitions? ...................................................................... 12 
Conclusion of the petition process ................................................................................... 13 
Review of steps taken in response to the petition by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee ....................................................................................................................... 13 
 Public Question Time ............................................................................................... 13 

General ............................................................................................................................ 13 
Order of questions ........................................................................................................... 13 
Notice of questions .......................................................................................................... 14 
Number of questions ....................................................................................................... 14 
Scope of questions .......................................................................................................... 14 
Copies of questions ......................................................................................................... 14 
Supplementary question .................................................................................................. 14 
Written answers ............................................................................................................... 14 
 Questions by Members............................................................................................. 15 

Questions on notice at full Council .................................................................................. 15 
Response ........................................................................................................................ 15 
Supplementary question .................................................................................................. 15 
Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other Lead Member .................................... 16 
On reports of the Cabinet or Committees ........................................................................ 16 
Ward Members to Speak at any Meeting ........................................................................ 16 
 Reports and Minutes of Cabinet and Committees .................................................... 16 
 Motions on Notice ..................................................................................................... 17 

Notice .............................................................................................................................. 17 
Motion set out in agenda ................................................................................................. 18 
 Motions Without Notice ............................................................................................. 19 
 Rules of Debate ........................................................................................................ 19 

No speeches until motion has been seconded ................................................................ 19 
Right to require motion in writing ..................................................................................... 19 
Seconder’s speech .......................................................................................................... 20 
Content and length of speeches ...................................................................................... 20 
When a member may speak again .................................................................................. 20 

Page 14



2 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Amendments to motions .................................................................................................. 21 
Alteration of motion .......................................................................................................... 21 
Withdrawal of motion ....................................................................................................... 21 
Right of reply ................................................................................................................... 21 
Motions which may be moved during debate .................................................................. 22 
Closure motions ............................................................................................................... 22 
Point of order ................................................................................................................... 23 
Personal explanation ....................................................................................................... 23 
Council proceeding as if in committee ............................................................................. 23 
 Previous Decisions and Motions .............................................................................. 23 

Motion to rescind a previous decision ............................................................................. 23 
Motion similar to one previously rejected ........................................................................ 23 
 Voting ....................................................................................................................... 23 

Majority ............................................................................................................................ 23 
Mayor’s casting vote ........................................................................................................ 24 
Show of hands ................................................................................................................. 24 
Recorded vote ................................................................................................................. 24 
Right to require individual vote to be recorded ................................................................ 24 
Voting on appointments ................................................................................................... 24 
 Minutes ..................................................................................................................... 24 

Signing the minutes ......................................................................................................... 24 
No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary and special 
meetings .......................................................................................................................... 25 
Form of minutes ............................................................................................................... 25 
 Record of Attendance ............................................................................................... 25 
 Exclusion of Public ................................................................................................... 25 
 Members’ Conduct ................................................................................................... 25 

Standing to speak ............................................................................................................ 25 
Mayor standing ................................................................................................................ 25 
Member to leave the meeting .......................................................................................... 26 
General disturbance ........................................................................................................ 26 
 Disturbance by Public ............................................................................................... 26 

Removal of member of the public .................................................................................... 26 
Clearance of part of meeting room .................................................................................. 26 
 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules ...................................... 26 

Suspension ...................................................................................................................... 26 
Amendment ..................................................................................................................... 26 
 Application to Committees and Sub-Committees ..................................................... 27 
 Access to Information Procedure Rules ................................................................... 27 

Scope .............................................................................................................................. 27 
Cabinet Arrangements ................................................................................................. 27 
Additional Rights to Information ................................................................................... 27 
Rights to Attend Meetings ............................................................................................ 27 
Notices of Meeting ....................................................................................................... 27 
Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting .................................................... 27 
Supply of Copies .......................................................................................................... 27 
Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting ...................................................................... 28 

Background Papers ......................................................................................................... 28 
List of background papers ............................................................................................ 28 
Public Inspection of Background Papers ..................................................................... 28 
Summary of Public’s Rights ......................................................................................... 28 

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings ............................................................... 28 

Page 15



3 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Confidential information – Requirement to Exclude Public .......................................... 28 
Exempt information – discretion to exclude public ....................................................... 29 
Meaning of confidential information ............................................................................. 29 
Meaning of exempt information .................................................................................... 29 
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports .............................................................. 30 
Application of Rules ..................................................................................................... 30 
Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions ..................................................................... 30 

The Forward Plan ............................................................................................................ 31 
Period of Forward Plan ................................................................................................ 31 
Contents of Forward Plan ............................................................................................ 31 
General Exception ....................................................................................................... 31 
Special Urgency ........................................................................................................... 32 

Report to Council ............................................................................................................. 32 
When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report ............................ 33 
Cabinet’s Report to Council ......................................................................................... 33 
Half Yearly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions ..................................................... 33 
Record of Decisions ..................................................................................................... 33 
Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet .................................................................................. 33 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees Access to Documents ............................................. 34 
Rights to copies ........................................................................................................... 34 
Limit on rights ............................................................................................................... 34 

Additional Rights of Access for Members ........................................................................ 34 
Material relating to previous business .......................................................................... 34 
Material relating to key decisions ................................................................................. 34 
Nature of rights ............................................................................................................ 34 

 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules ...................................................... 34 
The framework for Cabinet decisions .............................................................................. 34 
Process for developing the framework ............................................................................ 35 
Decisions outside the budget or policy framework .......................................................... 36 
Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework ............................................... 37 
In year changes to policy framework ............................................................................... 37 
Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework ............................................ 37 
 Cabinet Procedure Rules ......................................................................................... 38 

How the Cabinet operates. .............................................................................................. 38 
Who can make Cabinet decisions ................................................................................ 38 
Delegation of Cabinet Functions .................................................................................. 39 
Conflicts of Interest ...................................................................................................... 39 
Cabinet meetings ......................................................................................................... 39 
Quorum ........................................................................................................................ 39 

The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings ................................................................................... 39 
Chair ............................................................................................................................ 39 
Attendance ................................................................................................................... 39 
Cabinet business ......................................................................................................... 40 
Items for the Cabinet agenda ....................................................................................... 40 

 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules .................................................................. 40 
Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committee ..................................................... 40 
Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee ......................................................... 41 
Co-optees ........................................................................................................................ 42 
Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee ......................................................... 42 
Quorum ............................................................................................................................ 42 
The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings .............................................. 42 
Work programme ............................................................................................................. 42 

Page 16



4 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Agenda items ................................................................................................................... 43 
Policy review and development ....................................................................................... 43 
Forward Plan ................................................................................................................... 44 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents ............................ 44 
Members and Officers giving account ............................................................................. 44 
Attendance by others ....................................................................................................... 45 
Call-in .............................................................................................................................. 45 

Exceptions ................................................................................................................... 46 
Call-In and Urgency ..................................................................................................... 46 

The Party Whip ................................................................................................................ 46 
Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings ............................................. 47 
Matters within the remit of Overview and Scrutiny .......................................................... 47 

Councillor Call for Action (CCFA) ................................................................................ 47 
 Officer Employment Procedure Rules ...................................................................... 49 

Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 49 
Interpretation ................................................................................................................... 49 
Recruitment and appointment ......................................................................................... 49 
Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers ................................................. 49 
Appointment of Head of Paid Service .............................................................................. 50 
Appointment of Chief Officers .......................................................................................... 50 
Other appointments ......................................................................................................... 50 

Officers other than Assistants to Political Groups ........................................................ 50 
Assistants to Political Groups ...................................................................................... 50 

Disciplinary action ............................................................................................................ 50 
Dismissal ...................................................................................................................... 51 

 Procedural Appendices ............................................................................................ 53 
Appendix 1 ....................................................................................................................... 53 

Protocol – Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings ......................................................... 53 
Appendix 2 ....................................................................................................................... 54 

HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH ........................................................... 54 
 
  

Page 17



5 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 Annual Meeting of the Council 
 
Timing and business 

 
In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting will take 
place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the 
Annual Meeting will normally take place in May. 

 
The Annual Meeting will: 

i. elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present; 
ii. elect the Mayor of Council; 
iii. elect the Deputy Mayor of Council; 
iv. approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
v. receive any announcements from the Mayor; 
vi. elect the Leader where a vacancy has occurred ; 
vii. receive the Leader’s report on the appointment of the Deputy Leader of 

the Council and the number of and the names of the members of Cabinet; 
ix. receive the Leader’s report on the Cabinet portfolios and their allocation to 

members of the Cabinet; 
x. appoint an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee, 

a Licensing Committee and such other Committees as the Council 
considers appropriate to deal with matters which are neither reserved to 
the Council nor are executive functions (as set out in Part 3, Table 1 of 
this Constitution); 

xi. appoint to those Committees in accordance with the political balance rules 
where applicable except where the appointment is exercisable only by the 
Cabinet; 

xii. to consider the following motion to be proposed by the Leader of the 
Council and seconded by the Deputy Leader:- 

“That the Council agrees the programme for the ensuing municipal year 
as proposed by the Leader of the Council” to which no amendment may 
be moved.” 

 
 Ordinary Meetings 

 
Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 
decided at the Council’s Annual Meeting. Ordinary meetings will: 

 
i. elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present; 
ii. approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
iii. receive any declarations of interest from Councillors; 
iv. receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Leader; 
v. receive questions from, and provide answers to, the  public; 

Page 18



6 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

vi. deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
vii. consider motions;  
viii. consider any changes to the membership of Committees; 
ix. receive reports from the Cabinet and the Council’s Committees and receive 

questions and answers on any of those reports; 
x. receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the 

business of joint arrangements and external organisations; and 
xi. consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting 

including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the 
Council’s budget and policy framework and reports of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for debate; and  

 
 Extraordinary and Special Meetings 

 
Calling extraordinary meetings 

 
3.1 Those listed below may request the Chief Legal Officer to call Council 

meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 
i. the Council by resolution; 
ii. the Mayor of the Council; 
iii. the Monitoring Officer; and 

 
any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the 
Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting 
within seven days of the presentation of the requisition. 

 
Special Meetings 

 
3.2 Special meetings are set in the programme for meetings at the 

commencement of the municipal year. 
3.3 The only business which may be considered at an extraordinary or special 

meeting is the business for which the meeting was called or set as the case 
may be. 

3.4 Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of an 
authority there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that 
meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against 
the decision or who abstained from voting. 

 
 Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub- 

Committees 
 
4.1 There shall be no substitution of members of the Licensing Committee or the 

Cabinet. Members of the Cabinet may not be substitutes on Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The Leader may not substitute on Standards Committee. 

4.2 The political groups may appoint substitute members in accordance with this 

Page 19



7 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Rule on Committees and Sub-Committees. Only Councillors who have 
undergone related training may be substituted to Standards Committee, 
Planning Committee and Environment and Safety Committee.  Only members 
of Cabinet may be substituted to Charity Committee. 

4.3 Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary 
member of the Committee. 

4.4 Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
i. to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are the 

designated substitute; 
ii. where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the meeting or, in 

the case of the Charity Committee, for such item or items as shall be 
notified to the Chief Legal Officer under iii. below; and 

iii. after notifying the Chief Legal Officer no later than the commencement of 
the relevant meeting in the form supplied. 

 
 Time and Place of Meetings 

 
The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chief Legal Officer and 
notified in the summons.  All Council meetings unless otherwise determined shall be 
held in Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings. 

 
 Notice of and Summons to Meetings 

 
The Chief Legal Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting 
in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. At least five clear days before a 
meeting, the Chief Legal Officer will send a signed summons by post or electronic mail to 
every member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence. The summons 
will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be 
transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 

 
 Chair of Meeting 

 
The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of any of these rules, or as 
to any proceedings of the Council, shall be final. Subject to the requirement that the 
election of Mayor is to be the first item for discussion at Annual Council the Mayor shall 
have power to adjust the order of items on the agenda where he or she considers that it 
would be in the interests of the proper conduct of the meeting. 

 
The Mayor may adjourn a meeting of the Council for such period as he or she considers 
appropriate. In the event of an adjournment, the Mayor may, at the time of the 
adjournment or subsequently, fix a date and time for the meeting to resume. If no date 
and time is fixed the outstanding business shall be dealt with at the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council. 

 
The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor. Where 
these rules apply to Committee and Sub-Committee meetings, references to the Mayor also 
include the Chair of Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 
In the absence of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, the Chief Legal Officer shall call on any 

Page 20



8 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Councillor present at a Council meeting to move that a Councillor can chair the meeting. If 
discussion arises, the Chief Legal Officer shall exercise the powers of the person 
presiding to regulate that discussion, and to maintain order at the meeting. This rule shall 
apply to Committees and Sub-Committees in the same way except that members of 
Cabinet are not excluded by virtue of this Rule alone. 

 
 Quorum 

 
The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members. During 
any meeting if the Mayor or Chair counts the number of members present and declares 
there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining 
business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor or Chair. If he/she 
does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary 
meeting. 

 
The quorum for Committees is one quarter of the membership, subject to a minimum of 
three. 

 
The Standards Committee and Cabinet have their own rules as to quorum. These are 
set out in Article 9 of Part 2 and in the Cabinet Procedure Rules. 

 
 Duration of Meeting 

 
Unless the majority of Councillors present vote for the meeting to continue, any meeting that 
has lasted for four hours will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be considered at 
a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will 
be considered at the next ordinary meeting.  Virtual Full Council meetings will commence at 
18.00 hours and aim to finish at 21.00 hours. Any unfinished business will be completed on a 
pre-arranged and pre-published adjourned date. 
 

 
 Petitions Scheme 

 
The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in which 
people can bring their concerns to the attention of the Council. The subject of any 
petition to be presented must relate to a matter for which the Council has powers, 
duties or functions or which affects the Borough or part of it or its inhabitants. However, 
the Council will not deal with a petition which in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer is 
vexatious, abusive, similar in nature to one previously accepted within the past year or 
otherwise inappropriate to be considered under this rule. 

 
There are different types of petition as set out below. 

 
Ordinary petitions 
10.1 These are petitions which relate to matters for which the Council has powers, 
duties and responsibilities or which affects the Borough or part of it or people who live 
work or study in the Borough. These petitions should be presented to the Mayor or to 
the Chief Legal Officer at Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.  

  A petition shall comply with the following:-  

Page 21



9 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 (a) The wording of the petition will appear at the head of each page of signatures. 
 (b) The petition shall bear the signatures of ten or more persons from different 

households who live, work or study in the Borough. 
 (c ) The petition presented shall be the original and shall bear the signatures, 

name and address of each signatory. 
 (d) By signing the petition the petitioner is agreeing to have their personal 

information published in the public domain.  
10.2 A petition shall NOT be presented if it relates to: 
 (a) matters relating to an individual or relating to a current housing or grant 

application; 
 (b) matters which are the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to a tribunal 

or government minister or an investigation by the Local Government 
Ombudsman or the Standards Committee or through the Council’s 
Corporate Complaints Procedure; 

 (c) matters relating to a Council Officer or the conduct of a Councillor; or 
 (d) any other matter which would require the release of any exempt information 

as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Consultation petitions 

10.3 These are petitions compiled in response to consultation by the Council on a 
proposal such as a planning application, licensing application, proposed policy or 
strategy. Such petitions should be returned to the address in the consultation and will 
be considered by the Committee or body with responsibility for making the decision or 
recommendation. 
 
Governance Petitions 

10.4 These petitions are outside the Petitions Scheme. These relate to such 
matters as a call from electors for the Council to hold a referendum on whether to have 
an elected Mayor or for the establishment of a parish or community council in part of the 
Council’s area. The legislation governing E-Petitions has not yet been extended to such 
petitions. 
 
Petitions for Debate 

10.5 A petition which can require a debate at a meeting of the Council must comply 
with Rule 10.1 above except that it must have at least 1,500 signatures or more of persons 
who live, work or study in the Borough. 
This rule does not apply where the petition requires that an Officer be called to account. 
A petition for debate at Council will be reported to the next available ordinary meeting of 
the Council, when the petition organiser will be given 5 minutes in which to address the 
Council, followed by questions from Councillors. Council will then discuss the subject of 
the petition for no more than 15 minutes. 
The Council then has the following options:- 
a. where it is a decision on which it can make a decision, to make a decision; 

Page 22



10 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

b. where the decision is one which only Cabinet can make, to refer the 
matter to Cabinet for consideration with or without Council’s 
recommendations; or 

c. refer the matter to another committee with responsibility, such as the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for investigation and, possibly, further report. 

Petitions for debate should be addressed to the Council as for Ordinary Petitions. 
 
Petitions to call an Officer to account 
10.6 There may be exceptional circumstances where a petition is used to call a 
relevant Officer of the Council to account so that he or she is required to attend before 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to give evidence and to answer questions on a 
particular matter. 

The petition must satisfy the requirements of Rule 10.1, except that it shall bear at least 
750 signatures of persons who live, work or study in the Borough. The petition must also 
identify the Officer to be called to account either by name or job title. The petition must 
also give grounds for the request which relate to the discharge of functions for which the 
Officer is responsible. 
Relevant Officers who may be called to account by such a petition are the Chief Officers. 
On receipt of such a petition, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will exercise its 
powers under Section 21(13) (a) Local Government Act 2000 to require the relevant 
person to appear before it to answer questions relevant to the petition. It may decide 
that an Officer other than that Officer identified in the petition would be more 
appropriate to attend for questioning and the Head of Paid Service, will be consulted on 
this before another Officer is asked to attend. 
Only members of the Committee may address questions to the Officer and the Chair 
may pose questions provided by the petition organiser to the Chief Legal Officer at least 
three working days before the meeting. 
Following such attendance and questioning, the Committee will then make a report or 
recommendations to the Council or Cabinet, as appropriate, and send a copy of the 
report or recommendations to the petition organiser. 
Petitions to call an Officer to account should be addressed to the Council as for 
ordinary petitions. 
 
E-Petitions 

10.7 The Council acknowledges that E-Petitions can be a faster, more convenient 
alternative to a more traditional paper petition and therefore accepts the submission of 
E-Petitions. The E-Petition facility is facilitated by Modern.Gov and can be accessed 
using the link on the Hastings Borough Council website. The minimum number of 
signatures required for an E-Petition to be considered under this rule is ten for ordinary 
and consultation petitions, 750 for petitions calling Officers to account and 1500 for 
petitions for debate as described above in paragraphs 10.1 to 10.6.   For E-Petitions 
relating to current planning applications and current licensing applications the minimum 
number of signatures required for an E-Petition to be considered under this rule is ten 
from different households. The same rules and procedures apply as for paper petitions 
and the signatories must all live, work or study in the Borough.  Where an identical E-
Petition and paper petition and both received in respect of the same matter, the Council 
will accept the petition which is received first.  E-petitions are not accepted for petitions 

Page 23



11 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

alleging misconduct by a Councillor or Councillors (complaint to Standards Committee), 
relating to a Council Officer or Service (Corporate Complaints Process / Disciplinary) or 
to matters relating to an individual.   
 
Current Planning Applications 
10.8 E-Petitions which relate to current planning applications are accepted by the 
Council subject to the following:- 
a) They must contain a minimum of ten signatories from different households.  
b) All signatories must live, work or study in the Borough.  Random checks that 

signatories meet this criteria will be undertaken.   
c) The E-Petition must clearly state the planning application reference number to 

which it is referring, giving the full address of the property / site, the reasons for 
the petition and what action or decision you want the Council / relevant 
Committee to take.   

d) E-Petitions regarding current planning applications should be submitted within 
21 days of the date the application is initially advertised (by press notice / site 
notice or letter where appropriate).  This is to ensure that they are fully taken into 
account in the assessment of the application.  Signatures cannot be collected on 
an E-Petition beyond this period. 

e) E-Petitions relating to current planning applications must state who the Lead 
Petitioner is and how they can be contacted. 

f) E-Petitions can be submitted for current planning applications which are 
scheduled to be determined by the Planning Committee in accordance with the 
Council’s public speaking rights as set out in the Planning Protocol (Part 5 of the 
Constitution).  E-Petitions can only be accepted at least three clear working 
days before the Planning Committee considering the item is due to sit and the 
petition is contrary to the Officer’s recommendation. 

g) An acknowledgement will be sent to the Lead Petitioner within 10 working days 
of receipt of the petition (excluding E-Petitions submitted following publication of 
the Planning Committee agenda set out in f) above.  The Lead Petitioner will be 
notified if the application is referred to the Planning Committee and advised of 
the date of the Planning Committee meeting and their public speaking rights (if 
relevant).   

h) Validated E-Petitions regarding current planning applications will be uploaded 
onto the application file and available for public inspection on the Council’s 
website. 

i) Paper petitions will still be accepted for current planning applications. 
 
Current Licensing Applications 
10.9 E-Petitions which relate to current licensing applications are accepted by the 
Council subject to the following:- 
a) They must contain a minimum of ten signatories from different households.  
b) All signatories must live, work or study in the Borough.  Random checks that 

signatories meet this criteria will be undertaken.   

Page 24



12 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

c) The E-Petition must clearly state the name of the business which is subject of 
the licensing application, giving the full address of the property, the reasons for 
the petition and what action or decision you want the Council / relevant 
Committee to take.   

d) E-Petitions regarding current licensing applications under the Licensing Act 2003  
should be submitted within 28 consecutive working days commencing the day 
after the application is submitted.  This is to ensure that they are fully taken into 
account in the assessment of the application.  Signatures cannot be collected on 
an E-Petition beyond this period. 

e) E-Petitions relating to current licensing applications must state who the Lead 
Petitioner is and how they can be contacted. 

f) An acknowledgement will be sent to the Lead Petitioner within 10 working days 
of receipt of the petition.  The Lead Petitioner will be notified if the application is 
referred to the relevant Committee and advised of the date of the meeting.   

Guidance on the submission of E-Petitions can be found on the Council’s website at 
https://hastings.moderngov.co.uk/mgEPetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1 

 
 
How will the Council respond to petitions? (Excluding E-Petitions 
relating to current planning and licensing applications which are dealt 
with separately above) 
10.10 An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 10 working 
days of receipt of the petition, notifying how it is intended to deal with the petition and 
indicating when the petition organiser will be contacted again. This might include 
setting out the Council’s views about the request in the petition 
If the Council can do what the petition requests immediately, the Council will 
acknowledge that it has received the petition and tell the petition organiser that 
the Council has taken the action requested and the petition will be closed. 
Otherwise the Council’s response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for 
and how many people have signed it. This could include one or more of the following: - 

• taking the action requested in the petition 

• considering the petition at a council meeting 

• holding an inquiry into the matter 

• undertaking research into the matter 

• holding a public meeting 

• holding a consultation 

• holding a meeting with petitioners 

• referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

• writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council’s views about the 
request in the petition 

• no further action and the petition will be returned to the sender. 

Page 25

https://hastings.moderngov.co.uk/mgEPetitionListDisplay.aspx?bcr=1


13 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
If the petitioner is heard at any meeting of the Council they will be given up to 5 minutes 
in which to address the meeting followed by questions from Councillors (if applicable). 
Only one member of the delegation presenting the petition should be allowed to speak 
and must be someone who resides, works or studies in the Borough. 
 
Conclusion of the petition process 
 
10.11 Once the petition has been dealt with in accordance with this rule, the 
petition organiser will be advised in writing within 10 working days of the outcome of 
the petition if they were not present at the meeting where the petition was discussed. 

 
Review of steps taken in response to the petition by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

10.12 If the petition organiser is not satisfied that the petition has been dealt with 
properly, the petition organiser may request that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
reviews the adequacy of the steps taken or proposed to be taken in response to the 
petition. 
On receipt of a request for a review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall 
consider the request at its next available meeting or as soon as practicable thereafter. 
The Council shall within 10 working days of the decision on review inform the petition 
organiser of the outcome of the review. 
 
 

 Public Question Time 
 
General 

 
11.1 Members of the public who reside or work in the Borough may at ordinary 

meetings of the Council, in accordance with these rules, ask questions of the 
Leader and Portfolio Holders (including the Chair of Charity Committee) on 
any matter within the Borough Council’s powers, duties or functions. Public 
question time will last no longer than 30 minutes.  A question asked within the 
30 minutes will be answered. When the Full Council meeting is virtual we may 
undertake Public Question Time wholly in writing for both substantive 
questions and supplementary questions. The questions and answers will both 
be published on the Council’s website at (enter reference) and with the 
minutes of the meeting. The questioner’s name will be published. Requests for 
anonymity from publishing when asking a question are to be made with the 
initial question and will be entirely at the discretion of the Monitoring Officer.    

 
Order of questions 

 
11.2 Questions will be asked in the order in which they are recorded as being  

received by the Chief Legal Officer, except that the Mayor may group 
together similar questions. 

 
 
 

Page 26



14 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Notice of questions 
 
11.3 A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in 

writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Legal Officer no later than five clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the 
name and address of the questioner.  

 
Number of questions 

 
11.4 At any one meeting no person or organisation may submit more than one 

question. 
 
Scope of questions 

 
11.5 The Chief Legal Officer may reject a question and the ruling shall be final if: 

 
• it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 

responsibility, power, duty or function or which affects the Borough; 
• it is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
• it is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months; 
• it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
• its purpose is not primarily to seek information. 
• it is about a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to 

a tribunal or to a government minister or an investigation by the Local 
Government Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or through the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure; 

• the preparation of the answer would require the expenditure of a 
disproportionate amount of time, money or effort. 

  
Copies of questions 

 
11.6 Copies of all questions received together with the written reply from the 

Leader or relevant Portfolio Holder will be circulated to all Councillors and will 
be made available to members of the public attending the meeting. The 
question and answer will be taken as read. 

 
Supplementary question 

 
11.7 A questioner who has submitted a question may also ask one supplementary 

question, without notice, to the Cabinet member who has replied to his or her 
original question. Questions shall be put and answered without debate.  A 
supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the 
reply. The Mayor may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds 
in Rule 11.5 above. 

 
Written answers 

 
11.8 Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either 

because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Cabinet 

Page 27



15 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

member to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer 
within 10 working days of the Council meeting at which the question was 
asked. 

 
 Questions by Councillors 

 
Questions on notice at Full Council 

 
12.1 A Councillor may also submit one written question to the Chief Legal 

Officer five clear working days before the relevant meeting. 
A member of the Council may ask: 
• the Mayor; 
• the Leader or a Portfolio Holder; or  
• the Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee 

one question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers,  duties 
or functions or which affects Hastings Borough. The Chief Legal Officer may 
reject a question and the ruling shall be final if it:  
 

• It is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility 
power, duty or function or which affects the Borough; 

• It is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
• It is substantially the same as a question  which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months;  
• It requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
• It is about a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an 

appeal to a tribunal or to a government minister or an investigation by 
the Local Government Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or 
through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure; or 

•  the preparation of the answer would require the expenditure of a 
disproportionate amount of time, money or effort. 

 
 Response 
 
12.2 An answer may take the form of: 

a. a direct oral answer; 
b. where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that publication; or 
c. where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 
 
Supplementary question 

 
12.3 A Councillor who has submitted a question may ask one supplementary 

question, without notice, of the Councillor to whom the first question was 
asked. The supplemental question must arise directly out of the original 
question or the reply.  The Mayor may reject a supplementary question on 
any of the grounds in Rule 11.5 above. 

 

Page 28



16 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other Portfolio Holder 
 
12.4 At each ordinary meeting of the Council a maximum period of 30 minutes shall 

be set aside for oral questions by Councillors to the Leader, Deputy Leader or 
other Portfolio Holder,(including the Chair of Charity Committee). 

12.5 The Leaders of the opposition group/s are entitled to ask the first 
questions, such questions to be received in order of group size. 

12.6 All other Councillors may, subject to the time limit, ask a question. The 
Mayor shall determine the order of these questions. If time permits 
Councillors may ask a further question. 

12.7 When asking a question the Councillor must identify the Councillor to 
whom the question is addressed. 

12.8 The Mayor may disallow a question on any of the following grounds:- 
• it is not relevant to the functions, powers and duties of the Council 
• it is wholly or partly frivolous or derogatory to the dignity of Council 
• it is not put with reasonable brevity 
• it comprises more than one part 
• it is identical or moderately similar to another question which has already 

been put during question time. 

12.9 No supplementary questions are permitted. 
 
On reports of the Cabinet or Committees 

 
12.10 A member of the Council may ask the Leader, Deputy Leader or a 

Portfolio Holder any question without notice upon an item of the report of 
the Cabinet when that item is being received or under consideration by the 
Council. 

 
Ward Councillors to Speak at any Meeting 

 
12.11 A Councillor may speak on an item particularly affecting their ward at any 

meeting of Council bodies of which he or she is not a member, subject to any 
limitations imposed by law or this Constitution. 

 
 Reports and Minutes of Cabinet and Committees 

 
13.1 At ordinary meetings of the Council when the appropriate agenda item is 

reached the Mayor will ask the Councillors to state the numbers of the 
items on which they wish to speak. This process is known as “call-over”. 
Such items are called "reserved items". 

13.2 When an item is reserved, any other item before the Council ruled by the 
Mayor to be related to it shall be deemed to be reserved. 

13.3 No discussion shall take place on any items which have not been 
reserved. Items not reserved, including items requiring Council decision, 
shall be deemed adopted without discussion. 

13.4 Where the decision to be taken is a decision for the Council, the Leader and 
Chairs of Committees (starting with the Leader or relevant Cabinet Member) 

Page 29



17 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

shall move in turn the adoption of the recommendations as set out in the 
items in the report or minutes of the Cabinet or Committee, which have been 
reserved, in the order which they appear on the agenda, save that reserved 
matters requiring Council decision will be called first. 

13.5 In the absence of the Chair of a Committee or relevant Cabinet member, the 
Vice Chair or another Member nominated by the Chair may move the 
recommendations. 

13.6 A motion to adopt the recommendations of Cabinet or Committee need not be 
seconded. 

13.7 Where the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee are reporting or 
making recommendations on the same subject matter, their reports or minutes 
shall be considered together and, if in the opinion of the Mayor, there is a 
material difference between the recommendations, the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (or nominee) shall move its recommendations as an 
amendment to the recommendations moved under Rule 13.4 as soon as 
these have been moved. This amendment need not be seconded and shall 
then be open for debate. 

13.8 Where the reports or minutes on a reserved item do not contain any 
recommendations to the Council, the Mayor shall call the Councillor who 
reserved the item or their nominee to speak first. The Leader or relevant 
Cabinet member or Chair of the Committee concerned shall have the right of 
reply at the end of debate on the reserved item. No motion may be moved in 
respect of that matter other than to refer it back to the Cabinet for review or to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review and report. A motion to refer 
back a report or minute of the review of a decision previously referred back 
under this Rule or called-in under Rule 29.15 (unless as part of the call-in 
process) shall be out of order. 

 
 

 Motions on Notice 
 
Notice 

 
14.1 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has statutory powers, 

duties or functions or address the built or natural environment of the Borough 
of Hastings or address a matter of local, regional or national policy that affects 
the lives of people in the Borough of Hastings. The ruling of the Monitoring 
Officer in consultation with the Mayor shall be final as to the relevance of the 
motion. 

 
Further, a motion may not be tabled in any of the following circumstances:- 
a. any matter relating to an individual or individuals which relates to the 

application or use of any of the Council’s powers, past or present, in 
respect of that individual, other than in relation to admission to the 
honorary freedom of the Borough or in relation to an individual as a 
Councillor holding office in the Council; 

b. a matter which is the subject of legal proceedings or an appeal to a tribunal 
or to a government minister or an investigation by the Local Government 

Page 30



18 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Ombudsman or the Standards Committee, or through the Council’s 
Corporate Complaints Procedure; 

c. the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary or other payments, 
superannuation or conditions of employment or the conduct or ability of 
any individual employed by the Council or the conduct of a member of 
the Council; 

d. any other matter which would require the disclosure of exempt information 
as defined by Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 15, written 
notice of every motion, signed by at least one Councillor, must be delivered to 
the Chief Legal Officer not later than 8 clear working days before the date of 
the Council meeting. These will be entered in a book open to public inspection.  
 
 

Motion set out in agenda 
 

14.2 Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 
order in which notice of the motion was received and the motion accepted, 
unless the member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it 
to a later meeting or withdraw it. 
 

14.3 The agenda for each Council meeting, other than the Annual Meeting, shall 
include all notices of motions which relate to Council functions proposed to be 
moved at that meeting which have been received in time, accepted by the 
Chief Legal Officer and have not been withdrawn in writing by the proposer. 
Motions which are the responsibility of Council will be dealt with in the order 
upon which they are received.   
 

14.4 If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a Councillor who 
gave notice thereof or by some other Councillor on their behalf it shall, unless 
postponed by consent of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be 
moved without fresh notice. 
 

14.5 Motions which relate to matters which are not the responsibility of Council (e.g. 
Cabinet functions) will be referred by the Chief Legal Officer to the responsible 
body for consideration at its next available meeting. The proposer and 
seconder (or some other Councillor on their behalf) of the motion are entitled 
to speak to the motion at the meeting of that body. Only members of that body 
may move or second a proposition at the meeting of that body. 
 

14.6 No notice of motion, which if adopted, will, in the opinion of the Mayor, rescind, 
or substantially reverse the effect of a Council resolution made within the 
previous six months, shall be proposed unless the notice is signed by a 
majority of the members of the Council. 
 

14.7 The Chief Legal Officer will, if requested, help Councillors with the wording of 
motions. 
 

14.8 No notice of motion shall be accepted which in the opinion of the Chief Legal 
Officer relates to a quasi judicial matter before the Council. 

Page 31



19 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
 

 Motions Without Notice 
 
The following motions may be moved without notice: 

a. to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
b. in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
c. to change the order of business in the agenda; 
d. to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
e. to appoint a Committee or Councillor arising from an item on the 

summons for the meeting; 
f. to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of Committees or 

officers and any resolutions following from them; 
g. to withdraw a motion; 
h. to amend a motion; 
i. to proceed to the next business; 
j. that the question be now put; 
k. to adjourn a debate; 
l. to adjourn a meeting; 
m. that the meeting continue beyond four hours in duration; 
n. to suspend a particular Council procedure rule; 
o. to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 

Rules; 
p. to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Rule 22.4; and 
q. to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution. 
r. questions by Councillors under Rule 12.1; 
s. to move into Committee under Rule 16.14. 

 
 Rules of Debate 

 
No speeches until motion has been seconded 

 
16.1 No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 

explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded other than 
a motion to adopt the recommendations of Cabinet or a committee under 
Rule 13.4. 

 
Right to require motion in writing 

 
16.2 Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may 

Page 32



20 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is 
discussed. 

 
Seconder’s speech 

 
16.3 When seconding a motion or amendment, a Councillor may reserve their 

speech until later in the debate. 
 
Content and length of speeches 

 
16.4 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal 

explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed three minutes except:- 
1. the Mayor's address to the Annual Council; 
2. on the motion to adopt a programme for the year when the time limit for 

speeches by the Leader of the Council and the Leader of each Political 
Group having three or more Councillors, shall be 15 minutes; 

3. on the motion to approve the capital programme and revenue budget for 
the next financial year, when the time limit for speeches by the Leader of 
the Council and the Leader of each Political Group having three or more 
Councillors shall be 15 minutes; 

4. on a motion to adopt the Corporate Plan when the time limit for 
speeches by the Leader of the Council and the Leader of each Political 
Group having three or more Councillors, shall be 15 minutes; 

5. when the Council (following a vote without debate) allows a 
Councillor’s speech to continue for one further period of up to one 
minute. 

6. the proposer of a motion to Council or item for Council decision will 
have 5 minutes to propose and 5 minutes for their right of reply. (This 
does not apply to call over for Cabinet minutes).   

 
When a Councillor may speak again 

 
16.5 A Councillor who has spoken on an item may not speak again whilst it is 

the subject of debate, except: 
a. to speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor; 
b. to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since 

he/she last spoke; 
c. if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another Councillor, 

to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which 
he/she spoke was carried); 

d. in exercise of a right of reply; 
e. on a point of order; and 
f. by way of personal explanation. 

 
 
 

Page 33



21 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Amendments to motions 
 
16.6  

a. An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 
i. to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration 

or reconsideration; 
ii. to leave out words; 
iii. to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
iv. to insert or add words  

 
as long as the effect of ii. to iv. is not to fully negate the motion. 

 
b. Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No 

further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has 
been disposed of 

c. If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 
be moved. 

d. If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments are moved. 

e. After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the amended 
motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to 
the vote. 

 
Alteration of motion 

 
16.7  

a. A Councillor may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the 
consent of the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be 
signified by a vote without discussion. 

b. A Councillor may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with 
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will 
be signified without discussion 

c. Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
d. Where a proposed amendment is acceptable to the proposer of the original 

motion the consent of the seconder is required. 
 
Withdrawal of motion 

 
16.8 A Councillor may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent 

of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified 
without discussion. No Councillor may speak on the motion after the mover 
has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 
Right of reply 

 
16.9  

a. The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate 
on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 

b. If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has 
the right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but 

Page 34



22 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

may not otherwise speak on it. 
c. The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate 

on his or her amendment. 
 
Motions which may be moved during debate 

 
16.10 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except 

the following procedural motions: 
a. to withdraw a motion; 
b. to amend a motion; 
c. to proceed to the next business; 
d. that the question be now put; 
e. to adjourn a debate; 
f. to adjourn a meeting; 
g. that the meeting continue beyond four hours in duration 
h. to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules; and 
i. to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 22.3 or to exclude 

them from the meeting under Rule 22.4. 
 
Closure motions 

 
16.11  

a. A Councillor may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of 
a speech of another Councillor: 

i. to proceed to the next business; 

ii. to amend a motion 

iii. that the question be now put; 

iv. to adjourn a debate; or 

v. to adjourn a meeting 
 

b. In a motion to proceed to next business, if the Mayor thinks the item has been 
sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 
c. In a motion that the question be now put, if the Mayor thinks the item has 

been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote. 
If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply 
before putting his/her motion to the vote. 

 
d. If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and 

the Mayor thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot 
reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural 
motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of 

Page 35



23 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

reply. 
 
Point of order 

 
16.12 A Councillor may raise a point of order at any time. The Councillor must 

indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been 
broken. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council 
Rules of Procedure or the law. The ruling of the Mayor, who shall hear the 
Councillor immediately, will be final. 

 
Personal explanation 

 
16.13 A Councillor may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal 

explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the 
Councillor which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present 
debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation 
will be final. 

 
Council proceeding as if in committee 

 
16.14 When the Council is debating some matter requiring a decision by the Council 

and the Council feels it is appropriate, it may resolve to proceed for all or 
some of that item as if it were a committee. This will enable the Council to take 
advice from officers, and such other persons as it sees fit, in order to inform its 
decision making. On closure of the debate in committee, the Mayor will invite 
Council to move to a vote on the matter in accordance with Rule 18. 

 
 Previous Decisions and Motions 

 
Motion to rescind a previous decision 

 
17.1 A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council 

within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by a majority of Councillors. 

 
Motion similar to one previously rejected 

 
17.2 A motion or amendment in the same or similar terms to one that has been 

rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved 
unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by a majority of 
Councillors. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose 
a similar motion or amendment for six months. 

 
 Voting 

 
Majority 

 
18.1 Unless this Constitution or the law provides otherwise, any matter will be 

decided by a simple majority of those Councillors voting at the time the 
question was put. For the avoidance of doubt, an abstention from voting does 

Page 36



24 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

not constitute a vote and the majority, or such greater proportion otherwise 
required by law or this Constitution, shall be calculated from those voting for or 
against the motion. 

 
Mayor’s casting vote 

 
18.2 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a 

second or casting vote. There will be no restriction or assumption made on 
how the Mayor chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

 
Show of hands 

 
18.3 Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rules 18.4, the Mayor will take 

the vote by show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the 
meeting. During all virtual council meetings voting will be undertaken by roll 
call. 

 
Recorded vote 

 
18.4 If six or more Councillors present at the meeting stand and request it before 

the vote is taken, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 
abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the 
minutes. During all virtual council meetings if a Councillor requests a recorded 
vote and five more Councillors indicate agreement with that request then the 
vote will be recorded in the minutes in accordance with this paragraph. 

 
Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

 
18.5 Where any Councillors requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their 

vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or 
against the motion or abstained from voting. 

 
Voting on appointments 

 
18.6 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and 

there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of 
the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new 
vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one 
person. 

 
 Minutes 

 
Signing the minutes 

 
19.1 The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable 

meeting. The Mayor will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be 
signed as a correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be 
discussed is their accuracy. 

 
 

Page 37



25 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary 
and special meetings 

 
19.2 Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing 

the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting) or a Special Meeting, then 
the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that 
paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 
41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 

 
Form of minutes 

 
19.3 Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order 

the Mayor put them. 
 

 Record of Attendance 
 
A record of attendance shall be kept at every formal council meeting. 

 
 

 Exclusion of Public 
 
Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 
Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 23 (Disturbance by 
Public). 

 
 Councillors’ Conduct 

 
Standing to speak 

 
22.1 When a Councillor speaks at Full Council they must stand and address the 

meeting through the Mayor. If more than one Councillor stands, the Mayor will 
ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other Councillors must remain 
seated whilst a Councillor is speaking unless they wish to make a point of 
order or a point of personal explanation. The Mayor may excuse a Councillor 
from standing at his/her discretion. Whilst the Council is conducting Virtual Full 
Council meetings there is no need for a councillor to stand to speak. 

 
Mayor standing 

 
22.2 When the Mayor stands during a debate, any Councillor speaking at the time 

must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent. Councillor not to be heard 
further. During Virtual Full Council meetings the equivalent of this Rule is that 
the Mayor will ask the councillor/s to be silent. The Councillor is not to be heard 
further.   
 

Member not to be heard further 
 
22.3 If a Councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving 

improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Mayor may 

Page 38



26 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

move that the Councillor be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be 
voted on without discussion. During Virtual Full Council meetings the 
equivalent of this Rule is for the Mayor to mute the particular councillor/s.   

 
Member to leave the meeting 

 
22.4 If the Councillor continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, 

the Mayor may move that either the Councillor leaves the meeting or that the 
meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded the motion will be 
voted on without discussion. During Virtual Full Council meetings the 
equivalent of this Rule is for the Mayor to end the Councillor/s live stream to 
the meeting 

 
General disturbance 

 
22.5 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the 

Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 
 

 Disturbance by Public 
 
Removal of member of the public 

 
23.1 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings or behaves in an 

inappropriate manner the Mayor may warn the person concerned. If they 
continue to interrupt or behave inappropriately the Mayor may order their 
removal from the meeting room. During Virtual Full Council meetings the 
equivalent of this Rule is for the Mayor to end the member of the public’s live 
stream to the meeting. 

 
Clearance of part of meeting room 

 
23.2 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 

public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared. 
23.3 Members of the public may not bring placards or banners into a meeting room. 

 
 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules 

 
Suspension 

 
24.1 All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 16.6, save to permit all 

proposals to be considered together when the Council is considering the 
budget and the corporate plan, and 17.2 may be suspended by motion on 
notice or without notice if at least two thirds of the whole number of members 
of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 
Amendment 

 
24.2 Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, 

when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next 

Page 39



27 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

ordinary meeting of the Council. 
 

 Application to Committees and Sub-Committees 
 
All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council. Rules 9, 10, 
12.11, 13.3,16.1, 16.3, 16.6, 16.7, 16.8, 16.9, 16.10, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22.3, 22.4, 22.5, 
23 and 24 apply to Cabinet. Rules 4-10 and 16, 18-21, 22.3, 22.4, 22.5, 23-25 apply to 
meetings of committees and sub-committees. 

 
 

 Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 
Scope 
 
Cabinet Arrangements 

 
26.1. These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, the Standards Committee and regulatory committees and public 
meetings of the Cabinet (together called meetings). 

 
Additional Rights to Information 

 
26.2. These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 

elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
Rights to Attend Meetings 

 
26.3. Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the 

exceptions in these rules. For Virtual council meetings this means that they 
can view the meetings on (enter reference) 

 
Notices of Meeting 

 
26.4. The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by 

posting details of the meeting at Muriel Matters House and on its website. 
 
Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting 

 
26.5. The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 

available for inspection at the designated office at least five clear days before 
the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be 
open to inspection from the time the item was added to the agenda. It will also 
be circulated to Councillors. 

 
Supply of Copies 

 
26.6. The Council will supply copies of: 

a. any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
b. any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 

the items in the agenda; and 

Page 40



28 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

c. if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 
Councillors in connection with an item 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 
Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting 

 
26.7. The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a 

meeting: 
a. the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with 

reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet, excluding any part of the 
minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or 
which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

b. a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 
minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and 
coherent record; 

c. the agenda for the meeting; and 
d. reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
Background Papers 

 
List of background papers 

 
26.8 Council Officers will set out in every report a list of those documents (called 

background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in 
his/her opinion: 
a. disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
b. which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report but 

does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information (as defined in Rule 26.11) and in respect of 
Cabinet reports, the advice of a political advisor. 

 
Public Inspection of Background Papers 

 
26.9 The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the 

date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 
background papers. 

 
Summary of Public’s Rights 

 
26.10 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect 

and copy documents must be kept at and available to the public at Muriel 
Matters House. These rules constitute that written summary 

 
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings 

 
Confidential information – Requirement to Exclude Public 

 

Page 41



29 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

26.11 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 
that confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 

 
26.12 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of 

the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 
that exempt information would be disclosed. Where the meeting will 
determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their 
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing 
is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
Meaning of confidential information 

 
26.13 Confidential information means information given to the Council by a 

Government Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or 
information which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

 
Meaning of exempt information 

 
26.14 Exempt information means information falling within the following 

paragraphs (with Paragraphs 7a-7c being applicable only to the Standards 
Committee), but subject to the qualifications set out under 8-10 below. 
1. Information relating to any individual. 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
a. to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person: or 
b. to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 
a. Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality. 
b. Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national 

security. 
c. The deliberations of a standards committee or of a sub-committee of a 

Page 42



30 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

standards committee established under the provisions of the Localism 
Act 2011. 

 
Qualifications:- 
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information 

by virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under – 
a. the Companies Act 1985; 
b. the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
c. the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
d. the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
e. the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
f. the Charities Act 1993. 

9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed 
development for which the local planning authority may grant itself 
planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country 
Planning General Regulations 1992. 

10. Information which – 
a. falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
b. is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above, 
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports 

 
26.15 If the Chief Legal Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the 

public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in 
accordance with Rule 26.11 and Rule 26.12, the meeting is likely not to be 
open to the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together 
with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
Application of Rules 

 
26.16 The Access to Information rules apply to all council committees and the Cabinet. 

 
Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions 

 
26.17 Subject to Rule 26.20 (general exception) and Rule 26.21 (special 

urgency), a key decision may not be taken unless: 
 

a. a notice (called here a Forward Plan) has been published in 
connection with the matter in question; 

b. at least five clear days have elapsed since the publication of the Forward 
Plan; and 

c. where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 

Page 43



31 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance 
with Rule 26.4 (notice of meetings). 

 
The Forward Plan 

 
Period of Forward Plan 

 
26.18 Forward Plans will be prepared by the Leader to cover a period of four months, 

beginning with the first day of any month. They will be prepared on a monthly 
basis and subsequent plans will cover a period beginning with the first day of 
the second month covered in the preceding plan. 

 
Contents of Forward Plan 

 
26.19 The Forward Plan will contain matters which the Leader has reason to 

believe will be subject of a key decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a 
committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet, Officers or 
under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge of Cabinet functions 
during the period covered by the plan. It will describe the following particulars 
in so far as the information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

a. the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
 

b. where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name and title, if 
any and where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of 
membership; 

 
c. the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be 

taken; 
 

d. the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker 
proposes to consult before taking the decision; 

 
e. he means by which any such consultation is proposed to be 

undertaken; 
 

f. the steps any person might take who wishes to make 
representations to the Cabinet or decision taker about the matter in 
respect of which the decision is to be made, and the date by which 
those steps must be taken; and 

 
g. a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for 

consideration in relation to the matter. 
The Forward Plan must be published at least 28 days before the start 
of the period covered.  
Exempt information need not be included in a Forward Plan and confidential 
information cannot be included. 

 
General Exception 

 
26.20 If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in the 

Page 44



32 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Forward Plan, then subject to Rule 26.21 (special urgency), the decision may still 
be taken if: 
a. the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the 

decision until it has been included in the next Forward Plan and until the start 
of the first month to which the next Forward Plan relates; 

b. the Chief Legal Officer has informed the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or if there is no such person, each member of that committee in 
writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made; 

c. the Chief Legal Officer has made copies of that notice available to the public 
at the offices of the Council; and 

d. at least five clear days have elapsed since the Chief Legal Officer complied 
with b. and c. 

Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public. 
 
Special Urgency 

 
26.21 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 26.20 (general 

exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision 
taker (if an individual) or the chair of the body making the decision, obtains the 
agreement of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the taking of 
the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or if the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor or, in his/her absence, the Deputy 
Mayor will suffice.        
 

Emergency Situations 
                                                                                    

26.22 In urgency and/or emergency situations whereby Cabinet or Council and their 
respective Committees cannot meet to determine the Council’s business, 
delegated authority is given to the Council’s Managing Director (or nominee) in 
consultation with a minimum of 4 members of Cabinet, one of whom to be the 
Leader or Deputy Leader of the Council.  The Managing Director (or nominee) 
should also consult with the Leader or Deputy Leader of the opposition.  The 
delegation is to cover all the Cabinet’s and Council’s powers, duties and functions 
not currently covered by Part 8 of the Council’s Constitution.  If the Managing 
Director’s nominee is making a decision they must also consult with the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer.  Emergency circumstances would 
include the sorts of events covered by our Emergency Plan as well as 
unprecedented episodes, such as pandemics. “Urgency” would in most cases be 
confined to essential decision making during such emergency situations.  This 
change to apply from 19th March 2020 for a period of no more than 12 
months.  Any proposed extension or reinstatement of this change must be put to 
Full Council with full reasons outlined. 

 
 

 
Report to Council 

 
 

Page 45



33 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report 
 
26.23 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee thinks that a key decision has been taken 

which was not: 
a. included in the Forward Plan; or 
b. the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
c. the subject of an agreement with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair, 

or the Chair/Vice Chair of the Council under Rule 26.21; 
the committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within 
such reasonable time as the committee specifies. The power to require a report 
rests with the committee, but is also delegated to the Chief Legal Officer who shall 
require such a report on behalf of the committee when so requested by the Chair 
or any two members of the committee. Alternatively the requirement may be 
raised by resolution passed at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
 
Cabinet’s Report to Council 

 
26.24 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting 

of the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within eight 
clear working days of receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the 
committee, then the report may be submitted to the meeting after that. The 
report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body 
making the decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a key 
decision the reasons for that opinion. 

Half Yearly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 
 
26.25 In any event the Leader will submit half yearly reports to the Council on 

the Cabinet decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 26.21 
(special urgency) in the preceding six months. The report will include the 
number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of 
which those decisions were taken. 

 
Record of Decisions 

 
26.26 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees, whether held in 

public or private, the Chief Legal Officer or, where no officer was present, the 
person presiding at the meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken 
at that meeting as soon as practicable. The record will include a statement of 
the reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and 
rejected at that meeting. 

 
Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet 

 
26.27 Members of the Cabinet or its committees will be entitled to receive five clear 

working days notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the 
meeting is convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency. 

 

Page 46



34 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Access to Documents 
 
Rights to copies 

 
26.27 Subject to Rule 26.28 below, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be 

entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of 
the Cabinet or its committees and which contains material relating to 
a. any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the 

Cabinet or its committees; or 
b. any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet. 

 
Limit on rights 

 
26.28 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 

a. any document that is in draft form; 
b. any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, 

unless that information is relevant to an action or decision the committee is 
reviewing or scrutinising or intends to scrutinise. 

 
Additional Rights of Access for Councillors 

 
Material relating to previous business 

 
26.29 All Councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the 

possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its committees and contains 
material relating to any business previously transacted at a private meeting 
unless (a) below applies: 
a. it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1 to 7 of the 

categories of exempt information. 
 
Material relating to key decisions 

 
26.30 All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except 

those available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of 
the Cabinet or its committees which relates to any key decision unless Rule 
26.29a above applies. 

 
Nature of rights 

 
26.31 These rights of a Councillor are additional to any other right he/she may have. 

 
 
 

 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
 
The framework for Cabinet decisions 

 
27.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 

Page 47



35 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

framework as set out in Article 4. Once a budget or a policy framework is in 
place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

 
Process for developing the framework 

 
27.2 The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed is: 

a. The Cabinet will publicise, by including in the Forward Plan and any 
other appropriate means depending upon the circumstances, a 
timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any 
plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the budget and policy 
framework and its arrangements for consultation after publication of 
those initial proposals. 

b. Before a plan/strategy/budget needs to be adopted, the Leader or relevant 
Portfolio Holder will publish initial proposals for the budget and policy 
framework in a manner suitable to the matter under consideration. 

c. The initial proposals shall be referred to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for advice and consideration. The views of local stakeholders 
will also be canvassed. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall 
report to the Cabinet on the outcome of its deliberations. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee shall have four weeks to respond to the 
proposals of the Cabinet. 

d. Having considered the report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
the Cabinet, if it considers it appropriate, may amend its proposals before 
submitting them to the Council for consideration. 

e. The Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may adopt 
them, amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further 
consideration, or substitute its own proposals in their place. In considering 
the matter, the Council shall have before it the Cabinet’s proposals and 
any report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

f. The Council’s decision will be published and a copy shall be given to the 
Leader to the Council. The notice of decision shall be dated and shall state 
either that the decision shall be effective immediately, if the Council 
accepts the Cabinet’s proposals without amendment or, if the Cabinet’s 
proposals are not accepted without amendment, that the Council’s 
decision will become effective on the expiry of five working days after the 
publication of the notice of decision, unless the Leader objects to it in that 
period. 

g. If the Leader objects to the decision of the Council, he/she shall give 
written notice to the Chief Legal Officer to that effect prior to the date upon 
which the decision is to be effective. The written notification must state the 
reasons for the objection. Where such notification is received, the Chief 
Legal Officer shall convene a further meeting of the Council to reconsider 
its decision and the decision shall not be effective pending that meeting. 

h. The Council meeting must take place within eight working days of the 
receipt of the Leader’s written objection. At that Council meeting, the 
decision of the Council shall be reconsidered in the light of the objection, 
which shall be available in writing for the Council. 

Page 48



36 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

i. The Council shall at that meeting make its final decision on the matter on 
the basis of a simple majority. The decision shall be made public and shall 
be implemented immediately. 

j. Where before 8 February in any financial year, Cabinet submits to 
Council for its consideration in relation to the following financial year 
1. estimates of the amounts to be aggregated in making a calculation 

(whether originally or by way of substitute) in accordance with any of 
sections 32 to 37 or 43 to 49 Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(“the calculation”); 

2. estimates of other amounts to be used for the purposes of the calculation; 
3. estimates of such a calculation; or 
4. amounts required to be stated in a precept under Chapter IV of 

Part I Local Government Finance Act 1992 
and Council objects to such estimates, Council shall, before it makes the 
calculation, take the following action. It shall inform the Leader of its 
objections and require Cabinet to reconsider the estimates and amounts 
in light of those objections, specifying a period of no less than eight 
working days, beginning with the date on which the Leader receives the 
instruction, within which the Leader may 

• submit revised estimates or amounts to Council with Cabinet’s 
reasons for the amendments; or 

• inform Council of any disagreement Cabinet has with Council’s 
objections and giving its reasons. 

At the end of the period for objection, when considering the calculation, 
Council shall take account of Cabinet’s responses. 
(This paragraph does not apply to calculations made in accordance with 
Section 52I, 52J, 52T or 52U Local Government Finance Act 1992.) 

k. In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify 
the degree of in-year changes to the policy framework which may be 
undertaken by the Cabinet, in accordance with Rule 27.5. Any other 
changes to the budget and policy framework are reserved to the Council. 

 
Decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

 
27.3  

a. Subject to the provisions of the rules on virement contained in Financial    
Rules, the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, and any Officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions may only take decisions 
which are in line with the budget and policy framework. If any of these 
bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the 
policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget approved by Full Council, then that decision may only be taken by 
the Council, subject to 27.4 below 
 

b. If the Cabinet, committees of the Cabinet, any Officers, or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions want to make such a 
decision, they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 

Page 49



37 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Chief Finance Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would 
be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget. If the advice of either of those Officers is that 
the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy 
framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or person to 
the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in 
which case the provisions in paragraph 27.4 (urgent decisions outside the 
budget and policy framework) shall apply. 

 
Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework 

 
27.4  

a. The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual members of the 
Cabinet or Officers or joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions 
may take a decision which is outside the Council’s policy framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full 
Council if the decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may 
only be taken if the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees 
that the decision is a matter of urgency. 

 
The chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consent to the 
decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record 
of the decision. In the absence of the chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee the consent of the Mayor and in the absence of both the 
Deputy Mayor will be sufficient. 

 
b. Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the 

next available Cabinet meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for 
it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
In year changes to policy framework 

 
27.5 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the 

Council, and decisions by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, Officers, or 
joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions must be in line with it. No 
changes to any policy and strategy which make up the policy framework may 
be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 
a. which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of 

service to meet a budgetary constraint; 
b. necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 

government guidance; 
c. in relation to the policy framework in respect of a policy which would 

normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but 
where the existing policy document is silent on the matter under 
consideration. 

 
Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework 
27.6   

a. If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet 

Page 50



38 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief 
Financial Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to the policy 
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to 
Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the 
decision or its implementation until the Council has met and considered 
the matter. The Council shall meet within five days of the request by Chair 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. At the meeting it will receive a 
report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer. The Council may either: 

i. endorse a decision or proposal of the Cabinet as falling within the existing 
budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is required, 
save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all 
Councillors in the normal way; 

or 
ii. amend the Council’s financial rules or policy concerned to encompass the 

decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that Cabinet 
function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no 
further action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted 
and circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; 

or 
 

iii. where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the 
policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, 
and does not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the 
Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the 
Monitoring Officer / Chief Finance Officer. 

 
 Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 
How the Cabinet operates. 

 
Who can make Cabinet decisions 

 
28.1 The arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions are set out in the 

arrangements adopted by the Council and explained in Part 3 of the 
Constitution. The arrangements may provide for executive functions to be 
discharged by: 
i. the Cabinet as a whole; 
ii. a committee of the Cabinet; 
iii. an individual member of the Cabinet; 
iv. an Officer; 
v. a neighbourhood forum; 
vi. joint arrangements with another local authority; 
vii. another local authority. 

28.2 The Council appoints the Leader. The Leader appoints the Deputy Leader and 

Page 51



39 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

members of the Cabinet. The Leader is also the Chair of Cabinet meetings. 
The Leader allocates portfolios to Cabinet members. 

 
Delegation of Cabinet Functions 

 
28.3 The Cabinet may delegate its functions to a committee of the Cabinet and 

may delegate decisions on matters of urgency to an individual Member of the 
Cabinet. 
 
Where the Cabinet or a committee of the Cabinet is responsible for a 
Cabinet function, they may delegate further to an Officer. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 

 
28.4 Any conflict of interest by a member of the Cabinet will be dealt with in 

accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors in Part 5 of 
this Constitution. 

 
Cabinet meetings 

 
28.5 The Cabinet shall meet at Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, 

TN34 3UY, or another location to be agreed by the Leader. 
Cabinet meetings will be held in public, in accordance with the Council’s 
principles of openness in decision making set out in Article 12 of this 
Constitution, Part 2. The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution set out the requirements covering public and private meetings. 

 
 
 
Quorum 

 
28.6 The quorum of the Cabinet will be three. 

 
The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings 

 
Chair 

 
28.7 If present, the Leader will chair the meeting. In his/her absence, the Deputy 

Leader will chair the meeting. In the absence of the Leader and the Deputy 
Leader a member appointed to do so by those present shall chair the 
meeting. 

 
Attendance 

 
28.8 These details are set out in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 

Constitution. Meetings are usually open to the public. During Virtual meetings 
this means that the public can view the meetings on (insert details). A 
Councillor (who is not a member of Cabinet) may speak at meetings of the 
Cabinet where a decision affects that Councillor’s ward. Petitioners also have 
an opportunity to address Cabinet where the subject of the petition relates to a 

Page 52



40 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Cabinet function. Councillors who have proposed a motion on notice which has 
been referred to Cabinet, may address Cabinet on their motion. The seconder 
of the motion may also speak at Cabinet. 

 
Cabinet business 

 
28.9 At each meeting of Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 

i. consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
ii. declarations of interest, if any; 
iii. matters referred to Cabinet (whether by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by Cabinet in 
accordance with the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

iv. consideration of reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and 
v. matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, which shall indicate which 

are key decisions and which are not, in accordance with the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
Items for the Cabinet agenda 

 
28.10  

a. Agenda items for meetings of Cabinet will be agreed by the Leader of the 
Council and the Managing Director or, in his/her absence her nominee.  The 
advice of the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer will also 
be relevant in considering what items should be put on the agenda by the 
Chief Legal Officer. 
b. The Chief Legal Officer will make sure that an item is placed on the 
agenda of the next appropriate meeting of Cabinet where the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee or the Full Council have resolved that an item be 
considered by Cabinet. 
c. The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer may include 
an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may 
require the Chief Legal Officer to call such a meeting in pursuance of 
their statutory duties. 

28.11 The conduct of Cabinet meetings is at the discretion of the Chair and the 
following Council procedure rules apply: 9, 10, 12.11, 16.1, 16.3, 16.6, 16.7, 
16.8, 16.9, 16.10, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22.3-5, 23 and 24. 

 
 
 

 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 
 
Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
29.1  

a. The Council will have one Overview and Scrutiny Committee: It will perform all 
overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council. 

Page 53



41 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
b. The terms of reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be: 

 
i. the performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of 

the Council relating to the service areas specified in Article 6 (The 
Constitution, Part 2); 

ii. To agree an annual overview and scrutiny work programme for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in consultation with the Managing 
Director and Chief Legal Officer; 

iii. To ensure that referrals from Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the 
Cabinet, either by way of report or for reconsideration, are managed 
efficiently and do not exceed the limits set out in this Constitution; 

iv. in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding limits in this Constitution, 
or if the volume of such reports creates difficulty for the management of 
Cabinet business or jeopardises the efficient running of Council business, 
at the request of the Cabinet, to make decisions about the priority of 
referrals made. 

v. To receive requests from the Cabinet and/or the Full Council for 
reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

vi. To call in decisions of the Cabinet, made but not implemented, 
where those decisions are within the scope of the Terms of 
Reference of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

vii. To review the performance of the Council’s departments in delivering 
services which are relevant to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

viii. To consider Scrutiny Reviews and make recommendations to the 
Cabinet and/or Council 

ix. To appoint elected Members to the Review Groups. 
x. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is the Council’s crime and 

disorder committee for the purposes of Section 19 Police and 
Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. 

xi. The committee can exercise its function in relation to the Charity 
Committee, a committee of the Cabinet. 

 
Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
29.2 There will be eleven members on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. All 

Councillors except members of the Cabinet, the Mayor and Deputy Mayor may 
be members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. However, no member 
may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been directly 
involved. 

 
All members appointed to Overview and Scrutiny Committee must commit to 
be trained in order to perform the specialist role required. 

 
 

Page 54



42 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Co-optees 
 

29.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to recommend to Council 
the appointment of a number of people as non-voting co-optees. 

 
The Hastings and St Leonards Museum Association may appoint persons who are 
for the time being members of the Association to attend any meeting of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at which the management of the Hastings 
Museum Collection is the subject of consideration. These members will be entitled 
to vote and to speak at the meeting on any question relating to the management of 
the Collection. The number appointed may be up to 40% of the size of the original 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. (These members may not speak, other than at 
the invitation of the committee chair, or vote on any question other than one 
relating to the management of the Collection). Attendance by members of the 
Association at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not affect the continuing 
role of the Museums Committee. 
(Reference: Statutory Instrument 2000 No. 2853) 

 
 
Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
29.4 There shall be four formal regular public meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in each year. 
There will also be up to five reserve dates for the committee in each year.  
These reserve dates are for work on policy development discussions, service 
reviews and training. If required, any of these reserve dates may be used as 
formal public meetings to deal with the call-in of a Cabinet decision under Rule 
26.20 of this part of the constitution. 
The decision to use a reserve date as a formal meeting must be taken by the 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or by request from any three 
members of the committee or by the Chief Legal Officer if he/she considers it 
necessary. 

 
Quorum 

 
29.5 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be as set out for 

committees in the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

 
29.6 The Council will appoint the Chair and Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. Chair and Vice Chair may be minority party members. The rules of 
political balance will apply to these posts. 

 
Work programme 

 
29.7 Shortly after Annual Council there will be an annual public meeting of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee to set a work programme for the overview and 
scrutiny function for the municipal year and to review the results of the previous 

Page 55



43 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

year’s work programme. 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting their own 
work programme and in doing so they shall take into account wishes of members 
on that committee who are not members of the largest political group on the 
Council. 

 
Agenda items 

 
29.8 Any member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or sub-committee shall be 

entitled to give notice to the Chief Legal Officer that he/she wishes an item 
relevant to the functions of the committee to be included on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee. On receipt of such a request the Chief 
Legal Officer will ensure that it is included on the next available agenda. 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall also respond, as soon as its work 
programme permits, to requests from the Council and if they consider it 
appropriate, the Cabinet, to review particular areas of Council activity. Where 
they do so, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report their findings 
and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council. The Council 
and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at the next available meeting. 
The Chair of a Best Value Project Group can refer that Best Value Review 
back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for further consideration at 
any point in the Review. 

 
Policy review and development 

 
29.9  

a. The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the 
development of the Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in detail in 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 
b. In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters 
not forming part of its policy and budget framework, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may make proposals to the Cabinet for developments in so far as 
they relate to matters within their terms of reference. 
c. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may hold enquiries and 
investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and 
may appoint advisers and assessors to assist them in this process. They may 
go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission 
research and do all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to 
inform their deliberations. They may ask witnesses to attend to address them 
on any matter under consideration. The Cabinet is required to meet 
reasonable requests for funding. Funding should be used for specific activities 
in support of the functions outlined in the Terms of reference for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
29.10  

a. Once it has formed recommendations on proposals, the Overview and 

Page 56



44 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it for 
consideration by the Cabinet if it is a Cabinet matter. If it is a matter for 
Council then the Cabinet will be invited to comment before the report goes 
before the Council. 
b. If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single 
final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then one minority 
report may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Council or 
Cabinet with the majority report. 
c. Where the final outcome of a Best Value Review is reported to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Director of that service may produce an 
Officer response for consideration by Members. 
d. The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at the next available meeting. 

 
Forward Plan 

 
29.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have access to the Cabinet’s 

Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation. 
 
Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 

 
29.12  

a.    In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of the Overview and   
Scrutiny Committee have the additional right to documents, and to notice 
of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

b. Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the 
Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate depending 
on the particular matter under consideration. 

Councillors and Officers giving account 
 

29.13  
a. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any 
Council functions. As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the 
scrutiny role, it may require any member of the Cabinet or the Managing 
Director to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within his / her 
remit: 

i. any particular decision or series of decisions; 
ii. the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 
iii. their performance 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

 
b. Where any Councillor or officer is required to attend an Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the chair of that committee will 
inform the Chief Legal Officer. The Chief Legal Officer shall inform the 
Councillor or Officer in writing giving at least five working days notice of 

Page 57



45 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

the meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state the 
nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account 
and whether any papers are required to be produced for the committee. 
Where the account to be given to the committee will require the 
production of a report, then the Councillor or Officer concerned will be 
given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that report. 
 

c. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Councillor or Officer is unable to 
attend on the required date, then the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
shall in consultation with the Councillor or Officer, arrange an alternative 
date for attendance or for an alternative Officer to attend. 

 
Attendance by others 

 
29.14 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those 

people referred to in Rule 29.13 above to address it, discuss issues of local 
concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders and Councillors and officers in other parts of the 
public sector and shall invite such people to attend. Attendance cannot be 
made compulsory. During Virtual meetings this means attendance by joining 
the meeting on Microsoft Teams.  
 
At each programmed meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 
appropriate Cabinet Members may be questioned by members of that 
Committee on key issues and respond to questions on those issues. If any 
members of that Committee wish to question a Cabinet Member on a 
particular issue, it may be helpful to provide the question in advance. 
 
For the purposes of completing service reviews and policy development, any 
Councillor may be invited by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny to 
participate, although all decisions and reports will be the responsibility of the 
members appointed to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee by Annual 
Council. 

Call-in 
 

29.15 Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances. 
a. When a decision is made by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or a 

key decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the 
Cabinet the decision shall be published, including where possible by 
electronic means, and shall be available at the main offices of the Council 
normally within two working days of being made. Members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be sent copies of the records of all 
such decisions within the same timescale. 

b. That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that 
the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the 
expiry of three working days after the publication of the decision, unless 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee objects to it and calls it in. 

c. During that period, the Chief Legal Officer shall call-in a decision for 
scrutiny by the committee if so requested by the chair or any two 
members of the relevant committee, and shall then notify the decision-

Page 58



46 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

taker of the call-in. The meeting will be held within eight working days, 
where possible after consultation with the chair of the committee. 

d. If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the Cabinet for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the 
matter to full Council.  On receipt of the response from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee the Cabinet or Council may decide to proceed with the 
original decision or make an amended decision. 

e. If, following an objection to the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee does not meet within eight working days of the decision to call-
in or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the Cabinet, the 
decision shall take effect on the expiry of the period, or the date of the 
overview and scrutiny meeting, whichever is the earlier. 

f. If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does not object to 
a decision which has been made, then no further action is necessary and 
the decision will be effective in accordance with the provision below. 
However, if the Council does object, it has no locus to make decisions in 
respect of a Cabinet decision unless it is contrary to the policy framework, 
or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget. Unless that is the 
case, the Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the 
Cabinet, together with the Council’s views on the decision. The Cabinet 
shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

g. If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision 
back to the Cabinet, the decision will become effective on the date of the 
Council meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting 
should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 
 

 
 
 
Exceptions 

 
In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay, a written 
request signed by the Chair or any two members of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is needed for a decision to be called in. The notice shall specify which part or 
parts of the decision is/are called in and the reason why it/they should be referred to the 
committee for consideration. 
 
Call-In and Urgency 

 
The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken by the 
Cabinet is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call in 
process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. The record of the 
decision, and notice by which it is made public, shall state whether, in the opinion of the 
decision making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject 
to call-in. 
 
The Party Whip 

Page 59



47 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
29.16 The Party Whip is defined here as any instruction given by or on behalf of a political 

group to any Councillor who is a member of that group as to how that Councillor 
shall speak or vote on any matter before the Council or any committee or sub-
committee, or the application or threat to apply any sanction by the group in respect 
of that Councillor should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner. Government 
guidance says that the party whip should not apply on Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
 
29.17  

a. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following business: 
i. minutes of the last meeting; 
ii. declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 
iii. consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in 

relation to call in of a decision; 
iv. responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
v. the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 
b. Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. 

with a view to policy development), the committee may also ask people to 
attend to give evidence at committee meetings which are to be conducted in 
accordance with the following principles: 

i. that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 
committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to 
contribute and speak; 

ii. that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with 
respect and courtesy; and 

iii. that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 
efficiency of the investigation or analysis. 

 
c. Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a report, 

for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make 
its report and findings public. 

 
Matters within the remit of Overview and Scrutiny 

 
Councillor Call for Action (CCFA) 

 
29.18 Ward Councillors have the power to request a debate and discussion at the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the subject of neighbourhood concern. 
The powers are limited to single issues affecting the Councillor’s ward and are 
there as a longstop when all other attempts at a resolution have failed. The 
matter must be a local government matter for which the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has a responsibility, relate to the Councillor’s ward and not be 
excluded. 

Page 60



48 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Excluded matters are: 
a. matters relating to a planning or licensing decision; 
b. a matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 

individual or entity has recourse to a right of appeal conferred by 
legislation; 

c. any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or unreasonable. 
29.19 The process for the consideration of requests is that the ward Councillor 

submits the request by e-mail to democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk. The 
Ward Councillor must specify the exact nature of the issue, what steps have 
already been taken to resolve it, how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
can assist and what a successful resolution might be. Relevant Officers would 
be requested to comment before consideration of the request by the Chair and 
Vice-Chair at an agenda planning meeting. The agenda planning meeting 
would consider whether the matter was appropriate for reference to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Having regard to the criteria and 
exclusions set out in Rule 29.18 where it is decided not to be appropriate to 
refer the matter to the agenda planning meeting reasons for refusal shall be 
provided in writing. 

 
29.20 At a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the matter, 

the ward Councillor is entitled to address the Committee to present the call for 
action.  Relevant Portfolio Holders, Officers and partner organisations, where 
appropriate, will be invited to attend and contribute. The Committee will explore 
the potential options for resolution and decide on their recommendation for 
certain action. The Committee might consider any delegated decision making 
powers the ward Councillor may have and representations from the ward 
Councillor on why it would be appropriate for the Committee to exercise its 
powers as Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will direct its 
recommendation to the Cabinet or the relevant committee of the Council, or 
relevant Assistant Director where there is a delegation to officers. The Cabinet, 
committee, or relevant Assistant Director, in question, is required to report 
back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on actions taken as a result of 
the reference or the reasons for not taking action. If it decides not to take any 
action, the Committee shall notify the Councillor of its decision and the reasons 
for the decision. 
 

29.21 Where the Committee makes recommendations to the Council it must 
provide a copy of the report to: 
a. the Councillor who referred the matter; and 
b. such of the responsible authorities and co-operating persons and 

bodies as it shall think appropriate. 
When notifying those authorities, persons or bodies of the report 
recommendations the Committee shall inform them that they are required: 
a. to consider the report and recommendations; 
b. respond indicating what action is proposed; and 
c. have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising their functions. 

 

Page 61

mailto:democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk


49 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 
Introduction 

 
30.1 These rules are intended to give effect to the provisions of the Local Authorities 

(Standing Orders)(England) Regulations 2001, as amended, and will form the 
standing orders prescribed regarding employment matters. These rules take 
effect subject to the provisions of those Regulations. 
 

Interpretation 
 

30.2 For the purposes of these rules the following meaning apply:- 
 
“Head of Paid Service” means the Managing Director 
 

30.3 “Chief Officer” means the Managing Director. 
 
Recruitment and appointment 

 
30.4    

a. Declarations 
i. The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 

appointment as an Officer to state in writing whether they are the parent, 
grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, 
sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing Councillor or officer of 
the Council; or of the partner of such persons. 

ii. No candidate related to a Councillor or an Officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an Officer 
nominated by him/her. 

 
b. Seeking support for appointment. 
i. The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks 

the support of any Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The 
content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. 

ii. No Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment with the 
Council. 

 
Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 

 
30.5 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not proposed that 

the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing officers, the 
Council will: 

 
a. draw up a statement specifying: 

i. the duties of the Officer concerned; and 
ii. any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

b. make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and 

Page 62



50 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

c. make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in Rule 30.4a 
to be sent to any person on request. 

 
Appointment of Head of Paid Service 

 
30.6  

a. The Full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service 
following the recommendation of such an appointment by the 
Employment Committee of the Council. That Committee must include at 
least one member of the Cabinet. 

b. The Full Council may only approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service where no well-founded objection has been made by any member 
of the Cabinet. 

 
Appointment of Chief Officers 

 
30.7  

a. The Employment Committee of the Council will appoint Chief Officers of the 
Council. It must be advised by the Head of Paid Service. 

b. The Committee will not confirm such an appointment if a well-founded 
objection has been made by any member of the Cabinet or the Head of 
Paid Service until it has heard the objection. 

 
Other appointments 

 
Officers other than Assistants to Political Groups 

 
30.8  

a. Appointment of Officers other than the Head of Paid Service or Chief Officers 
is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her nominee 
 

 
 
Assistants to Political Groups 

 
b. Appointment of an assistant to a political group shall be made in accordance 

with the wishes of that political group  
 
Disciplinary action 

 
30.9  

(i) Where an allegation is made against the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer or Chief Finance Officer (Statutory Officers) relating to conduct or 
capability or some other substantial issue that requires investigation, the 
matter will be considered by the Employment Committee 

 
(ii) The Employment Committee will consider and action suspension, where 

appropriate to allow for an investigation. Any suspension must not last 
longer than two months, unless an extension is recommended by a 
suitably qualified and independent investigator 

Page 63



51 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
(iii) For the purposes of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2015, the Employment Committee will operate 
as the Panel (including two or more independent persons who have 
accepted the invitation) 

 
(iv) The Employment Committee will include two or more independent persons 

who accept the invitation in the following priority order: 
a) A relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 

Council and who is a local government elector; 
b) Any other independent person who has been appointed by the 

Council; 
and 
c) An independent person who has been appointed by another council or 

councils.] 
 

(v) At the relevant time, the Employment Committee will consider whether 
potential disciplinary/dismissal issues require investigation and whether the 
relevant Officer should be suspended. In this regard the authority must 
ensure that the Panel is in place at least 20 working days before the 
meeting at which it considers whether to approve a proposal to dismiss. 

(vi) The Employment Committee will inform the relevant Officers of the 
allegations, and allow him/her to respond in writing and in person. The 
Employment Committee will then decide whether no further action is 
required or that the matter requires an investigation by a suitably qualified 
and independent person and the Committee will use its best endeavours to 
agree this person with the officer 
 

(vii) The Employment Committee will review the results of the investigation to 
consider what action if any is appropriate, after hearing the views of the 
relevant Officer and the independent persons, and report its 
recommendations. The independent persons do not have a vote on 
whether the relevant person should be dismissed. Full Council must 
consider whether or not to approve such dismissal. 

 
Dismissal 

 
(viii) Where dismissal is recommended, the Employment Committee will provide 

advice, views or recommendations to Full Council for the authority to vote 
on whether it approves the proposal to dismiss. The relevant Officer will be 
provided with all relevant papers and documents in advance of the meeting 
and allowed to make their representations. Written representations may 
also be given by the relevant Officer in advance of the meeting. 

 
(ix) No notice of dismissal shall be given until the matter has been referred to 

the Full Council for approval. 
 

(x) The Council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adapted 
from time to time, allow a right to appeal for all Officers to Members in 
respect of dismissals. Such appeals will be heard by the Employment 
Appeals Committee. Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any 
officer other than the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, 

Page 64



52 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Officers except where such involvement is 
necessary to assist any investigation or inquiry being conducted by a 
Senior Officer or an independent person into alleged misconduct. 

 
In relation to any further appeal for statutory officers, as Full Council has approved the 
dismissal, there is no one in the authority who has the power to overturn the dismissal 
decision. In this respect and as set out above, the relevant Officer will have the opportunity 
to make representations to the Employment Appeals Committee before any dismissal 
recommendation is made at Full Council. 
 
  

Page 65



53 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 Procedural Appendices 
 
Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings  
 
Honorary Freedom of the Borough 
 
Appendix 1 

 
Protocol – Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings 

 
A minutes silence will be held at the next meeting of Full Council following the death of: 

 
a. A current member of the Council or one who left office within the preceding 

4 years. 
 

b. Former Mayor of the Borough. 
 

c. Former MP for Hastings and Rye 
 

d. Member of the Order of 1066 
 

e. Freeman/woman of Borough 
 

f. The Monarch or a significant member of the Royal Family. 
 

g. Any other person who has made a significant contribution to the Borough and its 
residents, or to the UK as determined by the Mayor in consultation with leaders 
of all political groups represented on the Council. 

 
h. A minute’s silence will be held at the next meeting of Full Council following a 

local, national or international disaster, as determined by the Mayor in 
consultation with leaders of all political groups represented on the Council. 

 
Where any of the above has been convicted of a criminal penalty, or brought his 
or herself or office into disrepute the Mayor in consultation with leaders of all 
political groups represented on the Council may decide to withhold this tribute 

  

Page 66



54 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

Appendix 2  
 
HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The Borough Council has power to admit individuals as Freemen of the Borough and this 

is set out in Section 249(5) Local Government Act 1972:- 
 
“the Council of a ….district having the status of a …borough …may, by resolution passed by 
not less than two-thirds of the members voting thereon at a meeting of the council specially 
convened for the purpose with notice of the object, admit to be honorary freemen of 
the….borough….persons of distinction and persons who have, in the opinion of the council, 
rendered eminent services to the…borough, but the admission of a person to be an honorary 
freeman shall not confer on him any such rights as are referred to in Section 248(4) above.” 
 
2.  The legislation goes on to provide that the Council may spend “such reasonable sum as 

they think fit for the purposes of presenting an address or casket containing an address to 
a person upon whom they have conferred the title…”. 
 

3. The title is entirely honorary – there are no rights or privileges arising from the award - 
and the Council’s powers to spend are strictly limited by the section. 

 
Motion to bestow the Freedom of the Borough 
 
4. In most cases the consideration of the Council admitting a person to the Freedom of the 

Borough will result from a motion to Council. 
 

5. Under the Constitution a motion, which is required to be considered by Council, would 
normally be included on the agenda of the next ordinary meeting of the Council.  The Act, 
however, refers to meeting of the Council specially convened for the purpose. 

 
6. The honour has been bestowed by the Borough on just six occasions since 1972.  The 

individuals honoured and the reasons why the Council considered them as persons of 
distinction or persons who have, in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent services 
to the Borough are as follows:- 

 
1978 William Henry Dyer. For services to the town’s old people and encouraging 

interest in local history. 
1986 Victor James Pain. For 60 years work for the Borough of Hastings and as 

Leader of the Council. 
2006 Pam Brown. OBE.  In recognition of outstanding service to the Borough and its 

citizens. 
2008 47 Royal Artillery Regiment. In recognition of the great debt owed to the 

armed forces, serving at home and abroad. 
2011 Michael Foster. Member of Parliament for Hastings and Rye. 
2016 Maureen Charlesworth. For services as a local Councillor and to voluntary 

organisations in the Town. 
 
7. The admission to the Freedom of the Borough is an honour that is not to be given lightly, 

as witnessed by the small number of admissions to the freedom since the introduction of 

Page 67



55 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

the power and the need for a two-thirds majority of the Council voting thereon at the 
meeting. Whilst there has been one admission to a group in 2008, the Councillors 
considering this procedure note considered that the freedom was more appropriate as a 
means of honouring individuals of distinction. 
 

8. It is important that, if a motion to admit to the freedom is to be considered, that all 
members will be in possession of sufficient facts in order to make a decision as to 
whether the honour should be given. Furthermore, there may be instances where there 
are strongly held views for and against and that these need to be addressed as far as 
possible in advance of an extraordinary Council meeting called for the purpose. So far as 
possible Council would want to be meeting with the clear consensus that the person of 
distinction is to be honoured and not humiliated by the proceedings. A unanimous 
decision is desirable, but the absence of unanimity cannot prevent the motion coming 
forward for consideration by Council. 

 
Criteria for admission to Freedom of the Borough 

 
9. It is in the interests of transparency and public confidence that the Council adopts clear 

criteria for admission to the freedom of the Borough. It is suggested that one or more of 
the following are used at the criteria for the award:- 
 
• evidence of exceptional service to the Borough Council whether as a Councillor 

or an officer; 
• evidence of exceptional charitable service to the Borough, whether a national or 

locally based charity; 
• evidence of exceptional voluntary service to the Borough or any part of it or 

community within it; 
• evidence of exceptional commercial service to the Borough; 
• evidence of exceptional service to the public services working for the residents 

and businesses of the Borough; 
• evidence of exceptional service to the Borough or the nation 

 
Procedure on receipt of a motion to admit to the Freedom of the Borough 
 
10. On receipt of the motion, the Chief Legal Officer will ask the proposer to provide full 

reasons why the person is considered: 
 

• a person of distinction; or 
• a person who has rendered eminent services to the Borough 

 
11. When in possession of sufficient information, the Chief Legal Officer will convene a 

panel of the leaders of the political groups on the Council or their nominees, with 
relevant officers (the Freedom Panel) to consider: 
 
• whether they have sufficient information on which to form a view and, if not, to 

instruct officers to seek further information; 
• once satisfied that they have adequate information, whether there is sufficient 

support for the matter to go to full Council for decision. 
 
12. In the event that the Freedom panel concludes that it is unlikely that the motion would 

Page 68



56 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

receive sufficient support, the Chief Legal Officer will advise the proposer of the motion 
of this conclusion and the reasons for reaching that conclusion. The Councillor would 
then be given the opportunity to withdraw the motion, though the Councillor would still 
be entitled to have his/her motion considered by Council. 
 

13. Should the Freedom Panel conclude that there would be likely to be a two thirds 
majority voting in favour of the motion, the Chief Legal Officer will convene an 
extraordinary meeting of the Council specifically for the consideration of the one item of 
business. The timing of the meeting will be such as, so far as it practicable, to meet the 
availability of the individual concerned to attend and to concord with the Council’s diary 
commitments. 

 
14. The subject of the motion will be invited to attend the extraordinary meeting of Council 

where the motion is to be considered. 
 

15. At the extraordinary meeting of Council, there will be only the one item of business and 
Officers will present a report setting out the matters considered by the Panel and the 
recommendation of the Panel to Council to approve the motion. 

 
16. The Mayor will take a vote on the motion and a two-thirds majority of those present and 

voting is required. 
 
(Note: abstentions do not count as a vote and the required majority will be deduced 
from the number of Councillors actually voting on the item). 

 
Then the Mayor will then immediately close the meeting. 

 
17. The ceremonial award of the Freedom with scroll or casket will take place at Annual 

Council as part of the incoming Mayor’s announcements and the new Freeman/woman 
would be given the opportunity to make a short speech (5 minutes) in response. 
 

 
APPENDIX 3  
 
Participants Guidance for Virtual Meetings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



57 
Hastings Borough Council – The Contitution Part 4 
(November July 2020) 

 
 

Page 70



 

Hastings Borough Council – The Constitution Part 5 
(July 2020) 

 

Hastings Borough Council 

Constitution of the Council 

 

 

 

Part 5 

 

 

Codes and Protocols 
 
 

Page 71



 
Page 2 of 27 

 

The Constitution, Part 5 - Codes and Protocols 
 
Contents          Page No. 
 

Hastings Borough Council ................................................................................................. 3 
Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members ................................................ 3 
Part 1 – General Provisions .............................................................................................. 4 
Introduction and interpretation .......................................................................................... 4 
Scope ................................................................................................................................ 5 
General obligations ........................................................................................................... 5 
Part 2 – Interests ............................................................................................................... 7 
Personal interests ............................................................................................................. 7 
Disclosure of personal interests ........................................................................................ 9 
Prejudicial interest generally ........................................................................................... 10 
Interests arising in relation to overview and scrutiny committee ..................................... 11 
Effect of prejudicial interests on participation .................................................................. 11 
Part 3 – Registration of Interests ..................................................................................... 12 
Registration of Councillors and Co-opted Members' interests ........................................ 12 
Sensitive information ....................................................................................................... 12 
Written Undertaking ........................................................................................................ 14 
Protocol for Relationships Between Councillors and Co-opted Members and Officers .. 15 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 
Page 3 of 27 

 

Hastings Borough Council 

Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members 
 
As a Councillor or co-opted member of Hastings Borough Council I have a responsibility to 
represent the community and work constructively with our staff and partner organisations to 
secure better social, economic and environmental outcomes for all. 
 
In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity I am committed to 
behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to achieve best value for 
our residents and maintain public confidence in this authority.  
 
The Seven Principles of Public Life 
 
Selflessness 
1. Councillors and co-opted members should serve only the public interest and should never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person. 
 
Integrity 
2. Councillors and co-opted members should not place themselves in situations where integrity 
may be questioned, should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the 
appearance of such behaviour. Councillors and co-opted members should show integrity by 
consistently treating other people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, 
sexual orientation, disability or position, for example as an officer or employee of the authority. 
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try to influence them in their work. They should not act or take 
decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their 
friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 
Objectivity 
3. Councillors and co-opted members should make decisions in accordance with the law and on 
merit, including when making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals 
for rewards or benefits. 
 
Accountability 
4. Councillors and co-opted members should be accountable to the public for their actions and 
the manner in which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and 
honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office. 
 
Openness 
5. Councillors and co-opted members should be as open as possible about their actions and 
those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions. 
 
Honesty  
6. Councillors and co-opted members should not place themselves in situations where their 
honesty may be questioned, should not behave dishonestly and should on all occasions avoid 
the appearance of such behaviour. Councillors and co-opted members should declare any 
private interests relating to their public duties and take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest. 
 
 
Leadership 
7. Councillors and co-opted members should promote and support these principles by 
leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves public 
confidence. 

Page 73



 
Page 4 of 27 

 

 
On their election or co-option to the Hastings Borough Council Councillors and co-opted 
members are required to sign an undertaking to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct. 
 
This Code of Conduct, adopted by the authority on 21 June 2012 is set out below. It is made 
under Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011 and includes, as standing orders made under 
Chapter 7 of that Act and Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972, provisions which 
require Councillors and co-opted members to leave meetings in appropriate circumstances, 
while matters in which they have a personal interest are being considered.  
 

Part 1 – General Provisions 
 

Introduction and interpretation 
 
1. (1) This Code applies to you as a Councillor or co-opted member r of the authority, when 
acting in that capacity. 
 
(2) This Code is based upon seven principles fundamental to public service, which are set out 
above. You should have regard to these principles as they will help you to comply with the 
Code. 
 
(3) If you need guidance on any matter under this Code you should seek it from the authority’s 
Monitoring Officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to comply with 
the provisions of this Code. 
 
(4) It is a criminal offence to fail to notify the authority’s Monitoring Officer of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, to take part in discussions or votes at meetings, or to take a decision where 
you have disclosable pecuniary interest, without reasonable excuse.  It is also an offence to 
knowingly or recklessly to provide false or misleading information to the authority’s Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
(5) Any written allegation received by the authority that you have failed to comply with this Code 
will be dealt with by the authority under the arrangements which it has adopted for such 
purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the authority has the right 
to have regard to this failure in deciding - 
 
(a) whether to take action in relation to you and  
 
(b) what action to take. 
 
(6) In this Code— 
 
“authority” means Hastings Borough Council 
 
“Code” means this Code of Conduct 
 
“co-opted member” means a person who is not a councillor of the authority but who- 
 
(a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or 
 
(b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee 
of the authority, 
 

Page 74



 
Page 5 of 27 

 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 
committee or sub-committee. 
 
"meeting" means any meeting of— 
 
(a) the authority; 
(b) the Cabinet of the authority; 
(c) any of the authority's or its Cabinet's committees, sub-committees, joint committees, joint 
sub-committees, or area committees;  
“register of Councillors and co-opted members’ interests” means the authority's register of 
Councillors and co-opted members pecuniary and other interests established and maintained 
by the authority’s Monitoring Officer under section 29 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 

Scope 
 
2. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), you must comply with this Code whenever you— 
 
(a) conduct the business of your authority (which, in this Code, includes the business of the 
office to which you are elected or appointed); or 
 
(b) act, claim to act or give the impression you are acting as a representative of your authority, 
 
and references to your official capacity are construed accordingly. 
 
(2) This Code does not have effect in relation to your conduct other than where it is in your 
official capacity. 
 
(3) Where you act as a representative of your authority— 
 
(a) on another relevant authority, you must, when acting for that other authority, comply with 
that other authority's code of conduct; or 
 
(b) on any other body, you must, when acting for that other body, comply with your authority's 
code of conduct, except and insofar as it conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that 
other body may be subject. 
 

General obligations 
 
3. —(1) You must treat others with respect. 
 
(2) You must not— 
 
(a) do anything which may cause your authority to breach any of its the equality duties (in 
particular as set out in the Equality Act 2010); 
 
(b) bully any person; 
 
(c) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be— 
 

(i) a complainant, 
 
(ii) a witness, or 
 
(iii) involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, 

Page 75



 
Page 6 of 27 

 

in relation to an allegation that a councillor or co-opted member (including yourself) 
has failed to comply with his or her authority's code of conduct; or 

 
(d) do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work 
for, or on behalf of, your authority. 
 
4. You must not— 
 
(a) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information acquired by you 
which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, except where— 

 
(i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; 
 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 

advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is— 
 

(a) reasonable and in the public interest; and 
 
(b) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements of 
the authority; 
 

(b) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by 
law. 
 
5. You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or authority into disrepute. 
 
6. You— 
 
(a) must not use or attempt to use your position as a Councillor or co-opted member improperly 
to confer on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage;  
 
(b) must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority— 
 

(i) act in accordance with your authority's reasonable requirements; 
 
(ii) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes (including 
party political purposes); and 

 
(c) must have regard to any applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 
Government Act 1986. 
 
7. —(1) When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant advice 
provided to you by— 
 

(a) your authority's Chief Finance Officer; or 
(b) your authority's Monitoring Officer, 

 
where that officer is acting pursuant to his or her statutory duties. 
 
(2) You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and 
any reasonable additional requirements imposed by your authority. 

Page 76



 
Page 7 of 27 

 

Part 2 – Interests 
 

Personal interests 
 
8. – (1) The interests described in paragraphs 8(3) and 8(5) are your personal interests and the 
interests in paragraph 8(5) are your pecuniary interests which are disclosable pecuniary 
interests as defined by section 30 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
(2) If you fail to observe Parts 2 and 3 of the Code in relation to your personal interests-  
 

(a) the authority may deal with the matter as mentioned in paragraph 1(5) and 
 
(b) if the failure relates to a disclosable pecuniary interest, you may also become subject 
to criminal proceedings as mentioned in paragraph 1(4). 

 
(3) You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where either— 
 
(a) it relates to or is likely to affect— 
 

(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 
(ii) any body— 

 
 (a) exercising functions of a public nature; 
 (b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or trade union), 

 
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management; 
 
(iii) any employment or business carried on by you; 
 
(iv) any person or body who employs or has appointed you; 
 
(v) any person or body, other than a relevant authority, who has made a payment 
to you in respect of your election or any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
your duties; 
 
(vi) any person or body who has a place of business or land in your authority's 
area, and in whom you have a beneficial interest in a class of securities of that 
person or body that exceeds the nominal value of £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital (whichever is the lower); 
 
(vii) any contract for goods, services or works made between your authority and 
you or a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a 
remunerated director, or a person or body of the description specified in 
paragraph (vi); 
 
(viii) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50 
 
(ix) any land in your authority's area in which you have a beneficial interest; 
 

Page 77



 
Page 8 of 27 

 

(x) any land where the landlord is your authority and you are, or a firm in which 
you are a partner, a company of which you are a remunerated director, or a 
person or body of the description specified in paragraph (vi) is, the tenant; 
 
(xi) any land in the authority's area for which you have a licence (alone or jointly 
with others) to occupy for 28 days or longer; or 
 

(b) a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a relevant person to a greater 
extent than the majority of (in the case of authorities with electoral divisions or wards) other 
council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division or ward, as the case may 
be, affected by the decision; 
 
(4) In sub-paragraph (3)(b), a relevant person is— 
 
(a) a member of your family or a close associate; or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are 
a partner, or any company of which they are directors; 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 
exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph (3)(a)(i) or (ii). 
 
8(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), you have a personal interest which is also a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of your authority where (i) you or (ii) your partner 
have any interest of a description specified as a disclosable pecuniary interest in Regulations 
made by the Secretary of State pursuant to section 30 of the Localism Act 2011.  
 
Employment, office, trade, profession or vacation: 
 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
 
Sponsorship: 
 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by a councillor 
or co-opted member in carrying out duties as a councillor or co-opted member, or towards the 
election expenses of a councillor or co-opted member. 
 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(3). 
 
 
Contracts: 
 
Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority- 
 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 
Land: 
 
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 
 

Page 78



 
Page 9 of 27 

 

Licences: 
 
Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a 
month or longer. 
 
Corporate tenancies: 
 
Any tenancy where (to Councillor or co-opted member’s knowledge)- 
 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 
 
Securities: 
 
Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where- 
 
(a) the body (to Councillor or co-opted member’s ’s knowledge) has a place of business or land 
in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either- 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
shared capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 
(6) In sub-paragraph (5), your partner means— 
 
(a) your spouse or civil partner, 
(b) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 
(c) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners, 
 
(7) In sub-paragraph (5), any interest which your partner may have is only treated as your 
interest if you are aware that that your partner has the interest. 
 
 
 

Disclosure of personal interests  
(See also Part 3) 
 
9. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), where you have a personal interest in any 
business of your authority and you attend a meeting of your authority at which any matter 
relating to the business is considered, you must disclose to that meeting the existence and 
nature of that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest 
becomes apparent. 
 
(2) If the personal interest is entered on the authority’s register there is no requirement for you 
to disclose the interest to that meeting, but you should do so if you wish a disclosure to be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
(3) Sub-paragraph (1) only applies where you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the 
existence of the personal interest. 
 

Page 79



 
Page 10 of 27 

 

(4) Where you have a personal interest but, by virtue of paragraph 14, sensitive information 
relating to it is not registered in your authority's register of Councillors and co-opted members  
interests, you must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest and, if also 
applicable, that it is a disclosable pecuniary interest, but need not disclose the sensitive 
information to the meeting. 
 
(5) Subject to paragraph 12(1)(b), where you have a personal interest in any business of your 
authority and you have made an executive decision on any matter in relation to that business, 
you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of 
that interest.  
 
(6) In this paragraph, "executive decision" is to be construed in accordance with any regulations 
made by the Secretary of State under section 22 of the Local Government Act 2000.  
 

Prejudicial interest generally 
 
10. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where you have a personal interest in any business of 
your authority you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where either- 
 
(a) the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest as described in paragraph 8(5), or 
 
(b) the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would 
reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest. 
 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), you do not have a prejudicial interest in any 
business of the authority where that business— 
 
(a) does not affect your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described 
in paragraph 8; 
 
(b) does not relate to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration in relation to you or any person or body described in paragraph 8; or 
 
(c) relates to the functions of your authority in respect of— 
 

(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your authority provided that those functions 
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

 
(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a 

parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a 
school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends; 

 
(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits 

Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, such pay; 
 

(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to Councillors or co-opted members; 
 

(v) any ceremonial honour given to councillors or co-opted members ; and 
 

(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

Page 80



 
Page 11 of 27 

 

 

Interests arising in relation to Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
11. You also have a personal interest in any business before an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where— 
 
(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or action taken by 
your authority's Cabinet or another of your authority's committees, sub-committees, joint 
committees or joint sub-committees; and 
 
(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of the Cabinet, 
committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in paragraph (a) 
and you were present when that decision was made or action was taken. 
 

Effect of prejudicial interests on participation 
 
12. —(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and (3), where you have a prejudicial interest in any 
matter in relation to the business of your authority— 
 
(a) you must not participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at any 
meeting, or participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting and must 
withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting considering the matter is being held.  
For virtual meetings you must disconnect from the meeting by leaving the virtual meeting.  
When consideration of the matter has concluded you will be re-invited back into the virtual 
meeting — 
 

(i) in a case where sub-paragraph (2) applies, immediately after making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence; 

 
(ii) in any other case, whenever it becomes apparent that the matter is being 

considered at that meeting; 
 
unless you have obtained a dispensation from your authority's Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee; 
 
(b) you must not exercise executive functions in relation to that matter; and 
 
(c) you must not seek improperly to influence a decision about that matter. 
 
(2) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your authority which is not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest as described in paragraph 8(5), you may attend a meeting 
(including a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of your authority or of a sub-
committee of such a committee) but only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also allowed 
to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise. 
 
(3) Where you have a prejudicial interest which is not a disclosable pecuniary interest as 
described in paragraph 8(5), arising solely from membership of any body described 8(3)(a)(i) or 
8(3)(a)(ii)(a) then you do not have to withdraw from the room or chamber and may make 
representations to the committee but may not participate in the vote. 
 
 

Page 81



 
Page 12 of 27 

 

Part 3 – Registration of Interests 

 

Registration of Councillors and members' interests 
 
13. —(1) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of— 
 
(a) this Code being adopted by the authority; or 
 
(b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later), 
register in the register of Councillors and co-opted members' interests details of-  
 

(i) your personal interests where they fall within a category mentioned in paragraph 
8(3)(a) and  

 
(ii) your personal interests which are also disclosable pecuniary interests where they fall 

within a category mentioned in paragraph 8(5)  
 
by providing written notification to your authority's Monitoring Officer. 
 
(2) Subject to paragraph 14, you must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal 
interest falling within sub-paragraphs (1)(i) or (1)(ii) or any change to any personal interest 
registered under sub-paragraphs (1)(i) or (1)(ii), register details of that new personal interest or 
change by providing written notification to your authority's Monitoring Officer. 
 

Sensitive information 
 
14. —(1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your personal interests is 
sensitive information, and your authority's Monitoring Officer agrees, the Monitoring Officer shall 
not include details of the interest on any copies of the register of Councillors or co-opted 
members’ interests which are made available for inspection or any published version of the 
register, but may include a statement that you have an interest, the details of which are withheld 
under this paragraph.  
 
(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any change of circumstances which means 
that information excluded under paragraph (1) is no longer sensitive information, notify your 
authority's Monitoring Officer asking that the information be included in the register of 
Councillors or co-opted members’ interests. 
 
(3) In this Code, "sensitive information" means information, the details of which, if disclosed, 
could lead to you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation. 
 
Dispensations 
 
15 - (1) The Standards Committee, or any sub-committee of the Standards Committee, or the 
Monitoring Officer may, on a written request made to the Monitoring Officer of the authority by a 
Councillor , grant a dispensation relieving the Councillor from either or both of the restrictions in 
paragraph 12(1)(a) (restrictions on participating in discussions and in voting), in cases 
described in the dispensation. 
 
(2) A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant circumstances, 
the Standards Committee, its sub-committee, or the Monitoring Officer— 
 

Page 82



 
Page 13 of 27 

 

(a) considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by paragraph 12 
from participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of the body 
transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the business, 
 
(b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political groups on the 
body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any 
vote relating to the business, 
 
(c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority's 
area, 
 
(d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies and is 
operating Cabinet arrangements, considers that without the dispensation each Councillor of the 
authority's Cabinet would be prohibited by paragraph 12 from participating in any particular 
business to be transacted by the authority's Cabinet; or 
 
(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 
 
(2) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period specified may 
not exceed four years. 
 
(3) Paragraph 12 does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of deciding 
whether to grant a dispensation under this paragraph. 

Page 83



 
Page 14 of 27 

 

 Hastings Borough Council 
 
 
 

Written Undertaking 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I .............................................. having become a Councillor/co-opted member (delete as 
appropriate) of Hastings Borough Council, declare that I will duly and faithfully fulfil the 
requirements of this role according to the best of my judgement and ability. 
 
I undertake to observe the code as to the conduct which is expected of Councillors/co-opted 
members (delete as appropriate) of Hastings Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed: .....................................   Date:.............................................. 
 
This undertaking was made and signed before me 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed: .....................................   Date:.............................................. 
 
Proper Officer of the authority* 
 
 
 
 
 
*Where the declaration is made before another person authorised by section 83(3) of the above 
Act, state instead the capacity in which that person takes the declaration. 
 

Page 84



 
Page 15 of 27 

 

 
Hastings Borough Council 

 

Protocol for Relationships Between Councillors and Officers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 85



 
Page 16 of 27 

 

Hastings Borough Council Protocol for Relationships between 
Councillors and Co-opted Members and Officers 
 
“Every local authority should have its own written statement or protocol governing relations 
between councillors and officers”. (Third report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life – 
the Nolan Committee) 

Introduction and Principles 
 
1.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Councillors and Officers in their relations with 

one another in such a way as to ensure the smooth running of the Council. 
 
1.2 If the Protocol is followed it should ensure that Councillors receive objective and 

impartial advice and that Officers are protected from accusations of bias and any undue 
influence from Councillors. 

Definitions 
1. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references to the term Council include the 

Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and other committees and sub-
committees. 

2. For the purposes of this protocol, the term Cabinet refers to the Leader and Cabinet. 
4. Officers and staff means all persons employed by the Council. 
5. Senior officer means the Managing Director, Assistant Directors and Senior Managers, 

except where otherwise stated. 
6. Designated Finance Officer means the officer exercising the duties prescribed by law 

for the financial administration of the Council. 
7. Monitoring Officer means as described under S5 Local Government and Housing Act 

1989.  

Principles 
8. Councillors and co-opted members and Officers must at all times observe the protocol. 
9. The protocol seeks to maintain and enhance the integrity (real and perceived) of local 

government which demands the highest standards of personal conduct. 
10. Councillors and co-opted members and Officers must always respect the roles and 

duties of each other.  They must show respect in all their dealings by observing 
reasonable standards of courtesy, and by not seeking to take unfair advantage by virtue 
of their position. 

11. Whilst Councillors and co-opted members and Officers are indispensable to one 
another, their responsibilities are distinct. Councillors and co-opted members are 
accountable to the electorate and serve only as long as their term of office lasts.  
Officers are accountable to the Council as a whole.  Their job is to give advice to 
Councillors and co-opted members (individually and collectively) and to carry out the 
Council’s work under the direction of the Council. 

12. The Council adopted a new Code of Conduct for Councillors and co-opted members in 
June 2012. The Code of Conduct is based on the Nolan principles. These principles 
underpin this protocol. The Code of Conduct is to be found at Part 5 of the Council’s 
Constitution with this protocol.  

13. Until such time as a new national code appears, Officers are bound by the Council’s 
own code of conduct for staff and, in some cases, by the codes of their professional 

Page 86



 
Page 17 of 27 

 

associations. The Council’s Code of Conduct is available on the Intranet under 
Personnel, Policies and Procedures Index. 

14. Breaches of this protocol by a Councillors and co-opted member may result in a 
complaint to the Standards Committee whether or not  it appears the Councillors and co-
opted members’ code has also been breached.  Breaches by an Officer may lead to 
disciplinary action. 

The Role of Councillors and Co-opted Members 
15. Councillors and co-opted members have a number of roles and need to be alert to the 

potential for conflicts of interest which may arise between the roles.  Where such 
conflicts are likely, councillors and co-opted members may wish to seek the advice of 
the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer. 

16. Collectively, Councillors and co-opted members are the ultimate policy-makers 
determining the core values of the Council and approving the authority’s policy 
framework, strategic plans and budget. 

17. Councillors are elected to represent their constituents. They represent the community, 
act as community leaders and promote the social, economic and environmental well-
being of the community often in partnership with other agencies. 

18. Every elected Councillor represents the interests of, and is an advocate for, his/her ward 
and individual constituents.  He/she represents the Council in the ward, responds to the 
concerns of constituents, meets with partner agencies, and often serves on local bodies. 

19. Some Councillors members have roles relating to their position as members of the 
Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committee or other committees and sub-committees of 
the Council. 

20. Councillors serving on Overview and Scrutiny Committee monitor the effectiveness of 
the Council’s policies and services, develop policy proposals and examine community 
issues.  They may also monitor other public sector service provision eg local health 
service relevant to the borough. 

21. Councillors and co-opted members who serve on other committees and sub-committees 
collectively have delegated responsibilities, e.g. deciding quasi-judicial matters which by 
law are excluded from the remit of the Cabinet. 

22. Some Councillors may be appointed to represent the Council on local, regional or 
national bodies. 

23. As politicians, Councillors may express the values and aspirations of the party groups to 
which they belong, recognising that in their role as Councillors they have a duty always 
to act in the public interest. 

24. Councillors and co-opted members are not authorised to instruct Officers other than: 

• through the formal decision-making process 

• to request the provision of consumable resources provided by the Council for 
Councillors and co-opted members’ use 

• where staff have been specifically allocated to give support to a Councillor or co-
opted member or group of Councillors and co-opted members. eg the Corporate 
and Democratic Services Team 

25. Councillors and co-opted members are not authorised to initiate or certify financial 
transactions, or to enter into a contract on behalf of the Council. 

26. Councillors and co-opted members must avoid taking actions which are unlawful, 
financially improper or likely to amount to maladministration. Councillors and co-opted 
members have an obligation under their code of conduct to have regard, when reaching 

Page 87



 
Page 18 of 27 

 

decisions, to any advice provided by the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer or the 
Chief Finance Officer, or their nominees.  

27. Councillors and co-opted members must respect the impartiality of Officers and do 
nothing to compromise it, e.g. by insisting that an officer change his/her professional 
advice or by seeking to involve an officer in the pursuit of a personal or political dispute 
with others. 

The Role of Officers 
28. Officers are responsible for giving advice to Councillors and co-opted members to 

enable them to fulfil their roles.  In doing so, Officers will take into account all available 
relevant factors. 

29. Under the direction and control of the Council (including, as appropriate, the Cabinet, 
committees and sub-committees), Officers manage and provide the Council’s services 
within the framework of responsibilities delegated to them.  This includes the effective 
management of employees and operational issues. 

30. Officers have a duty to implement decisions of the Council, the Cabinet, committees and 
sub-committees which are lawful, and which have been properly approved in 
accordance with the requirements of the law and the Council’s constitution, and duly 
minuted. 

31. Officers have a contractual and legal duty to be impartial.  They must not allow their 
professional judgement and advice to be influenced by their own personal views. 

32. Officers must assist and advise all parts of the Council.  They must always act to the 
best of their abilities in the best interests of the authority as expressed in the Council’s 
formal decisions. 

33. Officers must be alert to issues which are, or are likely to be, contentious or politically 
sensitive, and be aware of the implications for Councillors and co-opted members, the 
media or other sections of the public. 

34. Officers have the right not to support Councillors and co-opted members in any role 
other than that of Councillor and co-opted member, and not to engage in actions 
incompatible with this protocol.  In particular, there is a statutory limitation for certain 
Officers concerning involvement in political activities. 

The Relationship:  General Points 
35. Officers are responsible for day-to-day managerial and operational decisions within the 

authority and provide support to the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Members and all 
Councillors and co-opted members in their respective roles. 

36. Certain Statutory Officers – the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Section 151 Officer (currently the Assistant Director of Financial Services and 
Revenues) – have specific roles. These are addressed in the Constitution. Their roles 
need to be understood and respected by Councillors and co-opted members.  

37. Informal and collaborative two-way contact between Councillors and co-opted members 
and Officers is encouraged, but personal familiarity can damage the relationship, as 
might a family or business connection. 

38. Councillors and co-opted members and officers should inform the Monitoring Officer of 
any relationship which might be seen as unduly influencing their work in their respective 
roles. 

39. It is not enough to avoid actual impropriety.  Councillors and co-opted members and 
Officers should always be open about their relationships to avoid any reason for 
suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct.  Where a personal relationship has 
been disclosed, those concerned should avoid a situation where conflict could be 

Page 88



 
Page 19 of 27 

 

perceived.  Specifically, a Councillor or co-opted member should not sit on a body or 
participate in any decision which directly affects the Officer on a personal basis. 

40. Officers have a duty to implement the properly authorised decisions of the Council. 
41. Officers work to the instructions of their senior officers, not individual Councillors and co-

opted members.  It follows that, whilst such Officers will always seek to assist a 
Councillor or co-opted member, they must not be asked to exceed the bounds of 
authority they have been given by their managers. For minor or routine matters 
Councillors and co-opted members should deal with the officer concerned and not 
automatically elevate the matter to Assistant Director or the Managing Director level. 
Councillors and co-opted members should use the reporting tools provided e.g. My 
Hastings On-line account in the first instance 

42. Councillors and co-opted have been supplied with contact details of the relevant service 
managers to whom enquiries can be made. Councillors and co-opted members should 
only escalate issues to the Manging Director or Assistant Directors if an issue is no 
longer minor or routine or if an issue is not resolved satisfactorily at the first point of 
contact. 

43. Councillors and co-opted members should keep correspondence and telephone 
conversations confined between themselves and the responsible Officer without copying 
it to Senior Managers and other Councillors and co-opted members. Councillors and co-
opted members should also not ‘copy’ members of the public as this can make a proper 
reply difficult for Officers. Councillors and co-opted members should keep 
correspondence factual and not express an opinion until such time as the matter has 
been investigated. 

44. Assistant Directors are responsible for all aspects of the budgets and work of the areas 
they are managing. Matters of service performance should initially always be directed to 
them. They have the responsibility to resolve most major issues and should know when 
a performance issue is sufficiently important to refer it to the Managing Director (and in 
some cases for discussion with political leadership). 

Directors should be involved if:- 
i) There is a problem of service failure (not individual complaints) 
ii) A problem is of a scale that presents a risk to the Council achieving its objectives, has 

severe reputational risk implications, public safety concerns, and/or a major impact on 
the budget or carries a high political significance. 

iii) If a corporate response is required which is beyond individual middle managers to 
agree. 

45. Councillors and co-opted members views are representative of their constituents unless 
there is clear evidence to the contrary.  The views of Officers are based on professional 
judgements derived from experience and academic qualification.  On occasions 
differences between these two approaches will arise.  Where there is no lawful reason 
for the Councillors or co-opted members request not to be actioned, but an objection 
from an Officer on professional grounds there is a need to resolve these differences 
without a significant amount of time being taken up while achieving both analysis and 
consistency on one side and being responsive with community on the other. 

46. It is proposed that where a Councillor and the senior manager of a service cannot reach 
agreement the matter is considered by the appropriate Assistant Director and the 
Portfolio Holder at a regular one to one meeting or other suitable (reasonably prompt) 
time with the aim to resolve the issue. If Assistant Director and Portfolio Holder cannot 
reach agreement the matter is to be referred to the regular meeting of the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and the Managing Director. 

47. Officers will do their best to give timely responses to Councillors and co-opted members’ 
enquiries and will endeavour to observe the standards stated in the Council’s Contact 

Page 89



 
Page 20 of 27 

 

Charter ie 5 working days. However, Officers should not have unreasonable requests 
placed on them.  Their work priorities are set and managed by senior managers.  
Overall priorities are agreed between the Leader, Portfolio Holders, and the Managing 
Director on the basis of policies, strategies and plans agreed by the full Council or 
Cabinet in accordance with the Constitution.  Members should avoid disrupting Officers’ 
work by imposing their own priorities ie 5 working days. 

48. Councillors and co-opted members will endeavour to give timely responses to enquiries 
from Officers. 

49. Councillors and co-opted members and Officers should respect each other’s free (i.e. 
non-Council) time. 

The Council as Employer 
50. Officers are employed by the Council as a whole. 
51. Councillors’ roles are limited to: 

• the appointment of the Head of Paid Service / Managing Director 

• determining human resources policies and conditions of employment, and 

• hearing and determining appeals of the Head of Paid Service /  Managing 
Director and the disciplinary hearings of statutory Officers. 

52. In light of the nature of the Councillors and co-opted members’ role, an Officer should 
not discuss with a Councillor or co-opted member personal employment matters 
concerning him/herself or another individual employee. The Council has established 
procedures should the personal matter be in the nature of a grievance (see Grievance 
Policy and Procedure). This does not, of course, prevent an Officer raising on a personal 
basis, and in his/her own time, a matter with his/her ward member. 

53. Councillors and co-opted members shall not act outside these roles. 
54. If participating in the appointment of Officers, Councillors should: 

• remember that the sole criterion is merit 

• never canvass support for a particular candidate 

• not take part where one of the candidates is a close friend or relative 

• not be influenced by personal preferences, and 

• not favour a candidate by giving him/her information not available to the other 
candidates. 

55. A Councillor should not sit on an appeal hearing if the appellant is a friend, a relative, or 
an Officer with whom the Councillor has had a close working relationship. 

Mayor and Officers 
56. Officers will respect the position of Mayor and provide appropriate support. 

Members of Cabinet and Officers 
57. Members of Cabinet will take decisions in accordance with the Constitution and will not 

otherwise direct staff.  Senior officers will be responsible for instructing staff to 
implement the Cabinet’s decisions. 

58. Senior Officers and members of Cabinet shall agree mutually convenient methods of 
regular contact. The Managing Director shall meet regularly with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader and Shadow Leader and Deputy Shadow Leader. Before taking any formal 
decisions, the Cabinet will seek appropriate professional advice.  

Page 90



 
Page 21 of 27 

 

59. Performance management arrangements for the Managing Director will be exercised by 
the Leader and Deputy Leader. 

60. Before any formal decisions with a financial implication are taken by the Cabinet, the 
Finance Officer and the senior Officer(s) for the service(s) concerned must be consulted.  
This is to ensure that those Officers who are budget holders: 

• are aware of the proposed decision 

• have the opportunity to offer advice, and 

• are subsequently able properly to authorise the financial transactions needed 
to implement decisions. 

61. Officers taking decisions under their delegated powers must consider the advisability of 
informing the relevant Portfolio Holder/s of their intentions in advance when the matter to 
which the decision relates to is likely to be sensitive or contentious, or has wider policy 
implications. 

62. In relation to Cabinet decision-making, at present the Council does not operate 
individual Cabinet member decision-making and so delegation will be to a senior Officer 
in consultation with the Leader or Portfolio Holder and sometimes with the leader of the 
opposition group or groups. 

Overview and Scrutiny Members and Officers 
63. Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, when questioning Councillors and 

Officers should:  

• Direct their question to the merits of the decision under review 

• Ascertain the factual and other information on which the decision was based 

• Confirm the compliance of the decision making process with the Council’s 
principles of decision making 

• Test what alternatives have been considered and the reasons for their 
rejection.  

64. They should not: 

• Question the conduct of Individual Councillors or Officers 

• Seek for Officers to disclose the contents of confidential discussions, papers 
or advice 

• Criticise an Officer by name 

• Seek to instigate or become in any way involved in disciplinary or grievance 
procedures in relation to the actions of Councillors or Officers 

• Act as a “court of appeal” against specific decisions relating to individuals or 
pursue complaints by individuals (Councillors, Officers or members of the 
Public) where other procedures exist for this. 

65. It is recognised that officers required to appear before the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may often be those who have advised the Cabinet or another part of the 
Council on the matter under investigation.  In these circumstances, an Officer may have 
a conflict of interest.  Both Councillors and Officers need to consider the severity of the 
conflict.  In case of such conflict, provision may be made for managing the conflict eg by 
means of advice from an outside source. 

66. In giving evidence, Officers must not be asked to give political views. 
67. In exercising the right to call-in a decision of the Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee members must seek senior Officer advice if they consider the decision is 
contrary to the Council’s approved plans, policies or frameworks, or is unlawful. 

Page 91



 
Page 22 of 27 

 

Members of Other Committees or Sub-Committees and Officers 
68. The appropriate senior Officers will offer to arrange regular informal meetings with 

chairs, vice-chairs, and spokesperson of committees and sub-committees. 
69. Senior Officers (including the Monitoring Officer and the designated Finance Officer) 

have the right to present reports and give advice to committees and sub-committees. 
70. Members of a committee or sub-committee shall take decisions within the remit of that 

committee or sub-committee, and will not otherwise instruct Officers to act. 
71. At some committee or sub-committee meetings, a resolution may be passed which 

authorises the Managing Director or their nominee to take action between meetings in 
consultation with the chair.  In these circumstances, it is the Officer, not the Councillor, 
who takes the action and is responsible for it.  A Councillor has no legal power to take 
decisions on behalf of a committee or sub-committee, neither should he/she apply 
inappropriate pressure on the Officer.  It may be that in such circumstances it would be 
appropriate to take the matter back to committee for decision, though this will not always 
be possible due to urgency. 

 
Party Groups and Officers  
72. Senior Officers may properly be asked to contribute to deliberations of matters 

concerning Council business by party groups. 
73. Officers have the right to refuse such requests, and will normally not attend a meeting of 

a party group where some of those attending are not Councillors or co-opted members 
of the Council. 

74. Officer support will not extend beyond providing factual information or professional 
advice in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers must not be involved in 
advising on matters of party business, and therefore should not be expected to be 
present at meetings or parts of meetings when such matters are to be discussed. 

75. Party group meetings are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council, 
and conclusions reached at such meetings do not rank as formal decisions.  The 
presence of an Officer confers no formal status on such meetings in terms of Council 
business and must not be interpreted as doing so. 

76. Where Officers provide factual information and advice to a party group in relation to a 
matter of Council business, this is not a substitute for providing all the necessary 
information and advice when the matter in question is formally considered by the 
relevant part of the Council. 

77. It must not be assumed that an Officer is supportive of a particular policy or view 
considered at a party group meeting simply because he/she has attended or provided 
information to the meeting. 

78. Officers will respect the confidentiality of any party group discussions at which they are 
present and, unless requested to do so by that party group, will not relay the content of 
such discussions to another party group or to any other Councillor or co-opted member. 
This shall not prevent an Officer providing feedback to other senior Officers on a need-
to-know basis. 

79. In their dealings with party groups, Officers must treat each group in a fair and even-
handed manner. 

80. Councillors and co-opted members must not do anything which comprises or is likely to 
compromise Officers’ impartiality. 

81. The duration of an Officer’s attendance at party group meetings will be at the discretion 
of the group, but an Officer may leave at any time if he/she feels it is no longer 
appropriate to be there. 

Page 92



 
Page 23 of 27 

 

82. An Officer accepting an invitation to the meeting of one party group shall not decline an 
invitation to advise another group about the same matter.  He/she must give 
substantially the same advice to each. 

83. An Officer should be given the opportunity of verifying comments and advice attributed 
to him/her in any written record of a party group meeting. 

84. No Councillor or co-opted member will refer in public or at meetings of the Council to 
advice or information given by Officers to a party group meeting. 

85. At party group meetings where some of those present are not Councillors or co-opted 
members of the Council, care must be taken by Councilliors and Officers not to divulge 
confidential information relating to Council business.  Persons who are not Councillors 
or co-opted members are not bound by the Councillors and co-opted members’ Code of 
Conduct.  They do not have the same rights to Council information as Councillors and 
co-opted members. 

86. Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in relation to this part of the protocol 
should be raised with the Managing Director and the relevant party group leader. 

Local Councillors and Officers 
87. To enable them to carry out their ward role effectively, Councillors need to be fully 

informed about matters affecting their ward. Senior Officers must ensure that all relevant 
staff are aware of the requirement to keep local Councillors informed, thus allowing 
Councillors to contribute to the decision making process and develop their 
representative role. 

88. This requirement is particularly important: 
a. during the formative stages of policy development, where practicable 
b. in relation to significant or sensitive operational matters 
c. whenever any form of public consultation exercise is undertaken, and 
d. during an overview and scrutiny investigation. 

89. Issues may affect a single ward.  Where they have a wider impact, a number of local 
Councillors will need to be kept informed. 

90. Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all the 
Councillors representing the wards affected should be invited to attend the meeting as a 
matter of course. 

91. If a local Councillor intends to arrange a public meeting on a matter concerning some 
aspect of the Council’s work, he/she should inform the relevant senior Officer.  Provided 
the meeting has not been arranged on a party political basis: 

• an Officer may attend but is not obliged to do so, and 

• the meeting may be held in Council-owned premises, subject to availability. 
92. No such meetings should be arranged or held in the immediate run-up to Council 

elections i.e. from the time when notice of election is published. 
93. Whilst support for Councillors’ ward work is legitimate, an Officer should never, in his/her 

capacity as Officer, be invited to or to accompany a Councillor to a ward surgery or a 
ward or constituency political party meeting. 

94. It is acknowledged that some Council staff (e.g. those providing dedicated support to 
Cabinet councillors) may receive and handle messages for Councillors on topics 
unrelated to the Council.  Whilst these will often concern diary management, care should 
be taken to avoid Council resources being used for private or party political purposes. 

95. In seeking to deal with constituents’ queries or concerns, Councillors should not seek to 
jump the queue, but should respect the Council’s procedures.  Officers have many 

Page 93



 
Page 24 of 27 

 

pressures on their time.  They may not be able to carry out the work required by 
Councillors in the requested timescale, and may need to seek instructions from their 
managers. 

Councillors’ and Co-opted Members Access to Documents and Information 
96. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with the Access to Information 

Rules in the Council’s constitution. Councillors and co-opted members of the Council 
have the same rights as any other member of the public to information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and are subject to the same requirements and 
exemptions. 

97. As Councillors, they may request senior Officers to provide them with such information, 
explanation and advice as they may reasonably need to assist them to discharge their 
roles as Councillors.  This is generally known as the “need to know” principle. This may 
range from general information about some aspect of the Council’s services to specific 
information on behalf of a constituent.  It is not, however, a licence to a “roving 
commission to go and examine the books or documents of a corporation”.  Where 
information is requested on behalf of a third party, it will only be provided if: 

• it is in the public domain, and 

• it is not barred by the Data Protection Act from being given. 
98. Every member of the Cabinet, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and/or any other 

committee or sub-committee has a right to inspect documents about the business of that 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, other committee or sub-committee or the Cabinet. 

99. A Councillor who is not a member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, other 
committee or sub-committee, or the Cabinet may have access to any document about 
the business of those committees, except certain categories of exempt or Part II 
information. 

100. Disputes as to the validity of a Councillor’s request to see a document on a need to 
know basis will be determined by the Monitoring Officer/ Chief Legal Officer. Officers 
should seek his/her advice if in any doubt about the reasonableness of a Councillor’s 
request. 

101. A Councillor should obtain advice from the Monitoring Officer/Chief Legal Officer in 
circumstances where he/she wishes to have access to documents or information:  

• where to do so is likely to be in breach of the Data Protection Act, or 

• where the subject matter is one in which he/she has a personal or prejudicial 
interest as defined in the Councillors and co-opted members’ code of 
conduct. 

102. Information given to a Councillor or co-opted member must only be used for the purpose 
for which it was requested. 

103. It is an accepted convention that a member of one party group will not have a need to 
know and therefore a right to inspect a document which forms part of the internal 
workings of another party group. 

104. Councillors, co-opted members and Officers must not disclose information given to them 
in confidence without the consent of a person authorised to give it, or unless required by 
law to do so.  This does not, however, in general prevent an Officer disclosing such 
information to his or her line manager. 

105. When requested to do so, Officers will keep confidential from other Councillors and co-
opted members, advice requested by a Councillors and co-opted member. 

106. Councillors and co-opted members and Officers must not prevent another person from 
gaining access to information to which that person is entitled by law. 

Page 94



 
Page 25 of 27 

 

Media Relations 
107. All officer communications with the press must be made through the Communications 

Manager or his/her nominee. 
108. Press releases or statements made by Officers must promote or give information on 

Council policy or services.  They will be factual and consistent with Council policy.  They 
cannot be used to promote a party group. 

109. Officers will keep relevant councillors and the Communications Manager or his / her 
nominee informed of media interest in the Council’s activities, especially regarding 
strategic or contentious matters. 

110. If a Councillor or co-opted member is contacted by, or contacts, the media on an issue, 
he/she should: 

• indicate in what capacity he/she is speaking (e.g. as Ward Councillor, in a 
personal capacity, as an Cabinet Councillor, on behalf of the Council, or on 
behalf of a party group) 

• always, when he/she would like a press release to be issued, seek 
assistance from the Council’s Marketing and Major Projects Manager or 
his/her nominee and/or relevant senior Officer, except in relation to a 
statement which is party political in nature.  

• consider the likely consequences for the Council of his/her statement (e.g. 
commitment to a particular course of action, image, allegations of jumping to 
conclusions) 

• never give a commitment in relation to matters which may be subject to 
claims from third parties and/or are likely to be an insurance matter 

• consider whether to consult other relevant Councillors and co-opted 
members. 

Correspondence 
111. Correspondence (letters, emails etc) between an individual Councillor or co-opted 

member and an Officer should not be copied to another Councillor or co-opted member 
unless the author expressly intends and states that this is the case or consents.  Where 
correspondence is copied, this should always be made explicit, i.e. there should be no 
‘blind’ copies.  Correspondence between an Officer and a Councillor or co-opted 
member should not be copied to a member of the public except with the express 
consent of the author or in circumstances where the author understood that it was 
intended to provide copies to others. 

112. Official letters written on behalf of the Council should normally be in the name of the 
relevant Officer.  It may be appropriate in some circumstances (e.g. representations to a 
Government Minister) for letters to appear in the name of a Cabinet councillor or the 
chair of a Council committee. 

113. The Mayor may initiate correspondence in his/her own name. 
114. Letters which create legally enforceable obligations or which give instructions on behalf 

of the Council should never be sent in the name of a Councillor or co-opted member. 
115. When writing in an individual capacity as a Ward Councillor, a Councillor must make 

clear that fact. 
116. Councillors and co-opted Members and Officers are asked to give due consideration to 

the tone of their correspondence. 

Page 95



 
Page 26 of 27 

 

Access to Premises 
117. Officers have the right to enter Council land and premises to carry out their work.  Some 

Officers have the legal power to enter property in the ownership of others. 
118. Councillor or co-opted members have a reasonable right of access to Council land and 

premises to fulfil their duties. 
119. When making visits as individual Councillors and co-opted members, Councillor and co-

opted members should: 

• whenever practicable, notify and make advance arrangements with the 
appropriate manager or Officer in charge 

• comply with health and safety, security and other workplace rules 

• not interfere with the services or activities being provided at the time of the 
visit. 

Use of Council Resources 
120. The Council provides all Councillors and co-opted members with services such as 

printing and photocopying, and goods such as stationery and computer equipment, to 
assist them in discharging their roles as Councillor and co-opted members of the 
Council.  These goods and services are paid for from the public purse.  They should not 
be used for private purposes or in connection with party political or campaigning 
activities. 

121. Councillor and co-opted members should ensure they understand and comply with the 
Council’s own rules about the use of such resources, particularly: 

• where facilities are provided in Councillors and co-opted members’ homes at 
the Council’s expense 

• in relation to any locally-agreed arrangements e.g. payment for private 
photocopying; and 

• regarding ICT security. 
122. Councillor and co-opted members should not put pressure on staff to provide resources 

or support which Officers are not permitted to give.  Examples are: 

• business which is solely to do with a political party 

• work in connection with a ward or constituency party group meeting 

• electioneering 

• work associated with an event attended by a Councillor or co-opted member 
in a capacity other than as a Councillor or co-opted member of the Council 

• private personal correspondence 

• work in connection with another body or organisation where a Councillor or 
co-opted member’s involvement is other than as a Councillor or co-opted 
member of the Council; and 

• support to a Councillor or co-opted member in his/her capacity as a 
Councillor of another local authority. 

Interpretation, Complaints and Allegations of Breaches 
123. This part of the protocol should be read in conjunction with any “whistle-blowing” policy 

the Council may have. 
 

Page 96



 
Page 27 of 27 

 

124. Councillors or co-opted members or Officers with questions about the implementation or 
interpretation of any part of this protocol should seek the guidance of the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
125. A Councillor or co-opted member who is unhappy about the actions taken by, or conduct 

of, an officer should: 

• avoid personal attacks on, or abuse of, the Officer at all times 

• ensure that any criticism is well founded and constructive 

• never make a criticism in public, and 

• take up the concern with the Officer privately. 
126. It is not appropriate for a Councillor or co-opted member to continue to pursue a matter 

with the Officer concerned, to avoid any cause for complaint of harassment or bullying of 
the Officer concerned (see Council’s Harassment Policy).  It is inappropriate for a 
Councillor or co-opted member to impugn an Officer’s impartiality or integrity by 
addressing this repeatedly to the officer concerned, without raising it with a more senior 
Officer. 

127. If direct discussion with the Officer is inappropriate (e.g. because of the seriousness of 
the concern or because the officer is a junior member of staff) or fails to resolve the 
matter, the Councillor or co-opted member should raise the issue with the Officer’s 
manager or the relevant senior Officer. 

 
128. A serious breach of this protocol by an Officer may lead to an investigation under the 

Council’s disciplinary procedure. 
 
129. Councillors and co-opted members should consult with the relevant senior Officer or 

manager to seek an explanation before raising any question of failure by a particular 
part of the Council or group of officers in public.  Officers do not have the same freedom 
to respond in a public meeting as Councillor or co-opted members. 

 
130. An Officer who believes a Councillor or co-opted member may have acted other than in 

accordance with this protocol should raise his/her concern with the Monitoring Officer.  
He/she will consider how the complaint or allegation should be dealt with.  At a minor 
level, this may be no more than informally referring the matter to the leader of the 
relevant party group.  More serious complaints may result in reference to the Council’s 
Standards Committee with responsibility for Councillor and co-opted member standards. 

 
131. Whilst there are formal procedures in place for disputes between Officers and Councillor 

and  co-opted members it is hoped that attempts would be made to resolve all disputes 
amicably on an informal basis. 

 

 

 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Participants Guidance – Virtual Meetings 

 

Since the introduction of regulations providing local authorities with the power to 

provide ‘virtual’ meetings Democratic Services, IT and Legal Services have worked 

together to enable these to happen. 

This has created more demand on officer’s time especially in IT and Democratic 

Services. To ensure quality and consistency of meetings we all need to work 

together to assist the process in every way we can. 

There is a necessity for Democratic Service officers to know who is going to speak 

and in what order as far as we are able. That is because they are the ‘Producers’ of 

the meeting. They need to be able to know who to connect to next. There is a 3 

second time lag between speakers and we are trying not to increase that. 

IT are supporting the network and connectivity during the meetings.  They ‘Enable’ 

the meetings to take place. Legal Services work on the procedure and advise during 

the meetings. They ‘Direct’ the meetings. Colleagues from IT, Democratic Services 

and Legal Services may be present at Muriel Matters house for the duration of the 

meetings in order to facilitate the process. 

There needs to be much more communication and co-operation between us all 

before the meeting. That is to enable the slick production of the meeting so that the 

public and press watch an image which is as good as if they were in the room. 

With this in mind it is necessary for Legal Services and Democratic Services to know 

the following in advance of each meeting; 

 Absence and lateness 

 Items to be called and any changes to the agenda 

 Proposer and seconder of motions 

 Who will be presenting and speaking on agenda items 

It is necessary for officers to contact participants before the meeting takes place so 

that we can check that there are no issues with the link and we can see and hear 

you if necessary.  

All participants should regularly check their internet connectivity and council issued 

devices are in working order. If you are aware there is a technical issue then please 

contact IT Helpdesk without delay. The sooner you report a problem the sooner it 

can be resolved. This is important as we may need to adjourn the meeting if we are 

not quorate or if you are late joining the meeting you may not be able to participate in 

an agenda item. 

Page 99



If equipment or network failure occurs there is a telephone ‘dial in’ procedure in to 

the meetings. It is good practice for participants to remain on mute when they are not 

speaking. This significantly improves the sound quality as does wearing provided 

headsets which must be worn. 

At the start of a meeting it is expected that the Chair will introduce all councillors 

present so that the public get to see the decision makers. Depending on what 

meeting we are producing the participants may be visual all of the time or just when 

they are speaking. Councillors should have their cameras switched on at all times. 

Meeting participants can use the ‘raise the hand facility’ available on Teams when 

they wish to speak. For council meetings your name will be called out when you 

have raised your hand. Please lower your hand after your name has been called out 

as the Mayor has a note of your name. Please do not re-raise your hand after your 

name has been called out. 

Meeting participants should also consider the lighting arrangements to ensure that 

their image is clearly seen on screen. Councillors should ensure that they have the 

Council’s logo as their background without exception. 

When considering Part 2 items participants should ensure that there is no one else in 

the room who may be able to hear confidential Council information. Similarly, 

participants need to be aware of their surroundings if they are participating in 

meetings on mobile devices and generally. Anyone can be seen publicly if they are 

in view of the camera, children, pets, other persons. Please ensure that the space 

that you are using remains free for the expected duration of the meeting. 

Councillors need to be aware that what they do in front of the camera is in the public 

domain. Eating, drinking, using mobile phones, talking to other members of the 

family etc. However, please do not turn your camera off for the duration of the 

meeting or leave the meeting. Members of the public need to see you are present at 

the meeting and that you are there for the voting process. Please speak clearly when 

voting. The Chair of the meeting will ensure participants are given breaks during the 

meeting.  

It will be necessary for virtual council meetings for political group leaders to work with 

officers to agree speakers on agenda items before the meeting. It may also be 

necessary to deal with members questions in a different way procedurally. 

It is likely, due to the demands of producing each meeting that in future we will have 

shorter meetings more frequently. 

All participants should familiarise themselves with the virtual meeting procedure 

available on the website. Participants need to be very careful that they do not click 

other screen shots during a meeting as that can be shown to the public as a ‘screen 

shot’ breaking Data Protection rules. If you are any doubt as to how this could 

happen please contact IT Helpdesk. 

Page 100



Please contact officers as soon as you are able before the meeting to deal with any 

concerns. 

Contact details -  

Democratic Services democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 

01424 451723 

IT – helpdesk@hastings.gov.uk 

01424 451411 

Legal Services cbarkshire-jones@hastings.gov.uk 01424 451731 

          kcameron@hastings.gov.uk            01424 451728 

Contact between participants within the meeting can take place but remember if you 

chat generally this is visible by the public. If you want to chat privately with a 

participant hover over the person’s name and then chat. The chair of a meeting is 

asked to take legal advice as and when they want. This is not FOIable. 

All chairs of meetings have or will be given training before they chair a live virtual 

meeting. Training can also be carried out for any participants on request. Please 

contact IT Helpdesk. Participants are advised to watch themselves on available 

recordings as a training exercise.  

 

 

 

Page 101

mailto:democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk
mailto:helpdesk@hastings.gov.uk
mailto:cbarkshire-jones@hastings.gov.uk
mailto:kcameron@hastings.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 Report Template v30.0 
 

 
 

 

Report To: Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 7 December 2020 

Report Title: 12/13 York Buildings 

Report By: Peter Grace, Chief Finance Officer 

Key Decision:  Y 
 

Classification: Cabinet decision 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

To seek approval for additional funding to meet unforeseen costs in the conversion of the upper 
floors to six flats. 

 
 

Recommendation(s) 

1. To increase the budget for this project by £166,000 to £1.011m to meet additional 
maintenance costs, remedy issues identified when converting the upper floors to 6 
flats, and to meet additional contract costs arising from Covid-19.  

2. Fund £46,000 of the additional costs from the Renewals and Repairs Reserve with the 
remaining balance being funded by borrowing. 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 

This is a significant regeneration project in the Town centre on a Grade 2 listed building. 
Maintenance works have been identified e.g. to the mathematical tiles which would be best 
undertaken whilst the scaffolding for the major Capital works are in place. There are also further 
works required to remedy new issues uncovered within the building. A 16 week contract extension 
is required as a result of Covid-19 and there are additional costs associated with this.  
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



Report Template v30.0R 
 

 
 

Introduction 

1. The conversion of the upper floors of this grade 2 listed building to six flats is a major project 
and has been included in the Capital programme since 2017. Given the grade 2 status and 
associated conservation requirements the project was never seen as straight forward, and has 
indeed remained challenging not least because of Covid-19.  

2. The large spaces above retail shops in town centres across the country have been seen as 
opportunities to help tackle some of the issues faced by town centres and their continued 
sustainability. The historically low borrowing rates provided, and continue to provide, the 
Council with the means to convert the otherwise unusable space in a building it owns, to meet 
severe housings needs in the borough. 

3. The construction works were largely started on the 9 December 2019 with the removal of 
asbestos followed by the general works starting in January 2020. The works were disrupted 
due to the government lockdown on 23 March 2020 and the site was closed for health and 
safety concerns and the supply chain for materials being considerably disrupted. Works 
resumed in June 2010 after a closure of 10 weeks, with a further week to re-establish welfare 
facilities on site. 

4. The cabinet last considered this project in September 2019, when the budget was increased to 
£846,000 (from £757,000).  

5. The Council’s project managers (Mackellar Schwerdt LLP – Chartered Architects) have 
advised that Covid-19 and further major structural works will result in an extended contract 
period of some 16 weeks to 23 July 2021 – with all the added associated costs e.g. scaffolding 
hire etc. They have advised that the structural works result from “the poor quality of the 
original structure and what appears to be a lack of understanding by the original builder on the 
principals of structure”.  

6. Unforeseen Costs  
 
Additional costs are arising from: 
 
Structural works (£28,211) & making good (£18,917 to date) – plus extensive historic water 
damage to the building leading to the removal of the flat roof above room F7. 
Fire protection requirements throughout the building to meet latest regulations, Wood beetle 
treatments (£4,620) 
Additional asbestos removal found during opening up (£9,629) 
Gas, Water and electrical utility works  (£6180) – omitted from contract costs as ordered direct 
by the Council 
Provisional sums included for Carpets, drainage surveys. 

7. Maintenance Costs 
 
The contract was for internal conversion works, but once underway it has become clear that 
external structures, windows, cills and gullies also require maintenance. The additional costs 
have been estimated at £45,980. For example the costs of replacing and repairing some of the 
Mathematical tiles on the building were not originally envisaged when this project was first 
approved in 2017 - they have now been identified as requiring attention – estimated at some 
£13,000. Damage to the newer windows requiring extensive repair works (£14,995), The 
leaking lead cills (£10,650), replacement of the lead valleys (£5,244). 

Page 104



Report Template v30.0R 
 

 
 

 
It is sensible to undertake these repairs whilst scaffolding is still up. These costs would be 
normally be met from the Renewals and Repairs Reserve and as such it is proposed that 
these further costs are financed from this Reserve. 

8. The government have provided the Council £2,048,518 in un-ringfenced funding this year to 
meet additional costs and some of the lost income streams resulting from Covid-19. The 
monthly returns have included an estimate of the additional costs likely to be faced by the 
Council in terms of longer project timescales, increased material costs, revised methods of 
working and delayed income streams. This is one of several projects that is impacted. The 
additional costs have yet to be agreed with the contractor – an estimate for these costs is 
included in these figures. 
 

 

Financial Implications Revised Costs 
 

9. Project costs are expected to increase to £1,010,939 from £845,037. This represents an 
increase of some £165,902 on the Capital programme. 

10. The estimated costs in September 2019 amounted to some £846,000. Based on the estimated 
rentals as at July 2018 of £40,200 p.a. , the 6 flats were expected to provide a net annual 
surplus of £2,468 p.a. based on a 40 year PWLB loan. 

11. The net cost of the scheme now, after allowing for £46,000 of maintenance costs being funded 
from the Renewals and Repairs Reserve would be some £965,000.  

12. In the chancellor’s Spending Review announced on the 25 November 2020, the Public Works 
Loan Board rates were reduced by 1%. A 40 year Maturity loan to finance the projected 
£965,000 cost would result in borrowing costs of £40,141 p.a. – effectively a breakeven 
position when compared to the rental stream. The rental income from the scheme is expected 
to be higher now than the £40,200 p.a. estimated back in July 2018. As such there is not 
expected to be any material change in the total net costs to the Council. 

 

Conclusion 

This project was only ever likely to be viable whilst borrowing rates remain at their historically 
low levels, and this remains the case. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted more than ever 
the need to transform town centres and include more homes in them – thus enhancing the 
vibrancy and sustainability of the local economy. The need for these new homes remains as 
high as ever. The Council is still in the fortunate position to be able to complete this project – 
despite these additional, and unwelcome, costs.  

 

 

 

 

Page 105



Report Template v30.0R 
 

 
 

 

Timetable of Next Steps 

13. Please include a list of key actions and the scheduled dates for these: 

Action Key milestone Due date 
(provisional) 

Responsible 

Amend Repairs 
and Renewal 
programme  

Amend Works 
Contracts as 
necessary 

After Cabinet 
approval 

Estates Manager 
/Legal Services/ 
Senior Surveyor/ 
Financial Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 
Castle 
 

Policy Implications 

Reading Ease Score: 30.0 
 
 
Please identify if this report contains any implications for the following: 

Equalities and Community Cohesiveness N 
Crime and Fear of Crime (Section 17)  N 
Risk Management     N 
Environmental Issues & Climate Change   N 
Economic/Financial Implications   Y 
Human Rights Act     N 
Organisational Consequences   N 
Local People’s Views    N 
Anti-Poverty      N 
Legal                                                                   N 
 
 

Additional Information 

 

Officer to Contact 

Peter Grace 
PGrace@hastings.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 106

mailto:PGrace@hastings.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Last Meeting
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 23/11/2020 Cabinet
	Minutes
	 Managing Director Decision Notice


	4 Changes to Council Constitution
	Appendix 1 Part 4 Constitution - Rules of Procedure (November 2020)
	1. Annual Meeting of the Council
	Timing and business

	2. Ordinary Meetings
	3. Extraordinary and Special Meetings
	Calling extraordinary meetings
	Special Meetings

	4. Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees and Sub- Committees
	5. Time and Place of Meetings
	6. Notice of and Summons to Meetings
	7. Chair of Meeting
	8. Quorum
	9. Duration of Meeting
	10. Petitions Scheme
	Ordinary petitions
	Consultation petitions
	Governance Petitions
	Petitions for Debate
	Petitions to call an Officer to account
	E-Petitions
	How will the Council respond to petitions? (Excluding E-Petitions relating to current planning and licensing applications which are dealt with separately above)
	Conclusion of the petition process
	Review of steps taken in response to the petition by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	11. Public Question Time
	General
	Order of questions
	Notice of questions
	Notice of questions
	Number of questions
	Scope of questions
	Copies of questions
	Supplementary question
	Written answers

	12. Questions by Councillors
	Questions on notice at Full Council
	Response
	Supplementary question
	Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other Portfolio Holder
	Questions to the Leader, Deputy Leader or other Portfolio Holder
	On reports of the Cabinet or Committees
	Ward Councillors to Speak at any Meeting

	13. Reports and Minutes of Cabinet and Committees
	14. Motions on Notice
	Notice
	Motion set out in agenda

	15. Motions Without Notice
	16. Rules of Debate
	No speeches until motion has been seconded
	Right to require motion in writing
	Seconder’s speech
	Content and length of speeches
	When a Councillor may speak again
	Amendments to motions
	Amendments to motions
	Alteration of motion
	Withdrawal of motion
	Right of reply
	Motions which may be moved during debate
	Closure motions
	Point of order
	Personal explanation
	Council proceeding as if in committee

	17. Previous Decisions and Motions
	Motion to rescind a previous decision
	Motion similar to one previously rejected

	18. Voting
	Majority
	Mayor’s casting vote
	Show of hands
	Recorded vote
	Right to require individual vote to be recorded
	Voting on appointments

	19. Minutes
	Signing the minutes
	No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary and special meetings
	No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary and special meetings
	Form of minutes

	20. Record of Attendance
	21. Exclusion of Public
	22. Councillors’ Conduct
	Standing to speak
	Mayor standing
	Member not to be heard further
	Member to leave the meeting
	General disturbance

	23. Disturbance by Public
	Removal of member of the public
	Clearance of part of meeting room

	24. Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules
	Suspension
	Amendment

	25. Application to Committees and Sub-Committees
	26. Access to Information Procedure Rules
	Scope
	Cabinet Arrangements
	Additional Rights to Information
	Rights to Attend Meetings
	Notices of Meeting
	Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting
	Supply of Copies
	Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting

	Background Papers
	List of background papers
	Public Inspection of Background Papers
	Summary of Public’s Rights

	Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings
	Confidential information – Requirement to Exclude Public
	Exempt information – discretion to exclude public
	Meaning of confidential information
	Meaning of exempt information
	Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports
	Application of Rules
	Procedure Before Taking Key Decisions

	The Forward Plan
	Period of Forward Plan
	Contents of Forward Plan
	General Exception
	Special Urgency

	Report to Council
	When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report
	When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a Report
	Cabinet’s Report to Council
	Half Yearly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions
	Record of Decisions
	Notice of Meeting of the Cabinet

	Overview and Scrutiny Committee Access to Documents
	Overview and Scrutiny Committee Access to Documents
	Rights to copies
	Limit on rights

	Additional Rights of Access for Councillors
	Material relating to previous business
	Material relating to key decisions
	Nature of rights


	27. Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
	The framework for Cabinet decisions
	Process for developing the framework
	Decisions outside the budget or policy framework
	Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework
	In year changes to policy framework
	Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework

	28. Cabinet Procedure Rules
	How the Cabinet operates.
	Who can make Cabinet decisions
	Delegation of Cabinet Functions
	Conflicts of Interest
	Cabinet meetings
	Quorum

	The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings
	Chair
	Attendance
	Cabinet business
	Items for the Cabinet agenda


	29. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Co-optees
	Co-optees
	Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Quorum
	The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings
	Work programme
	Agenda items
	Policy review and development
	Forward Plan
	Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents
	Councillors and Officers giving account
	Attendance by others
	Call-in
	Exceptions
	Call-In and Urgency

	The Party Whip
	Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings
	Matters within the remit of Overview and Scrutiny
	Councillor Call for Action (CCFA)


	30. Officer Employment Procedure Rules
	30. Officer Employment Procedure Rules
	Introduction
	Interpretation
	Recruitment and appointment
	Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers
	Appointment of Head of Paid Service
	Appointment of Chief Officers
	Other appointments
	Officers other than Assistants to Political Groups
	Assistants to Political Groups

	Disciplinary action
	Dismissal


	31. Procedural Appendices
	Appendix 1
	Protocol – Minute’s Silence at Council Meetings

	Appendix 2
	HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH



	Appendix 1 Part 5 Constitution - Codes and Protocols (Dec 2020)
	Hastings Borough Council
	Constitution of the Council
	Part 5
	Codes and Protocols
	Hastings Borough Council
	Code of Conduct for Councillors and Co-opted Members
	Part 1 – General Provisions
	Introduction and interpretation
	Scope
	General obligations
	Part 2 – Interests
	Personal interests
	Disclosure of personal interests
	Prejudicial interest generally
	Interests arising in relation to Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Effect of prejudicial interests on participation
	Part 3 – Registration of Interests
	Part 3 – Registration of Interests
	Registration of Councillors and members' interests
	Sensitive information
	Written Undertaking
	Protocol for Relationships Between Councillors and Officers

	Hastings Borough Council Protocol for Relationships between Councillors and Co-opted Members and Officers
	Introduction and Principles
	Definitions
	Principles
	The Role of Councillors and Co-opted Members
	The Role of Officers
	The Relationship:  General Points
	The Council as Employer
	Mayor and Officers
	Members of Cabinet and Officers
	Overview and Scrutiny Members and Officers
	Members of Other Committees or Sub-Committees and Officers
	Members of Other Committees or Sub-Committees and Officers
	Local Councillors and Officers
	Councillors’ and Co-opted Members Access to Documents and Information
	Correspondence
	Access to Premises
	Access to Premises
	Use of Council Resources
	Interpretation, Complaints and Allegations of Breaches


	Appendix 2 Participants Guidance Final.

	5 12/13 York Buildings
	8 Commercial Property Lease

